SOUTH CAROLINA

The Leonardo Andrea Geneslogical Collection, Univ of SC Library has files on GOWENS,
GOWINS, GOINGS families. Contact: Manuscripts Curator.

1716, WILLIAM GOINGS, SC College, Petitioner. (LDS AIS)

1717, WILLIAM GOINGS, SC College, Petitioner. (LDS AIS)

1752, Council Journal, p 16. Petition of THOMAS GOING. “As he and all his farnily are free as
gappedrs by the annexed certificate, and having a wife and @ children’ he asks for 550 ac on or about the
Congree River. Approved. (Goings and/or family had been indented servants, and exhibited his/their
freedom certificates for fulfilling their indenture contracts.) (Waren, Mary B. The Carolina Genealogist,
Spring 1984, No 50,p 91) C

1775-83, Thomas Bamett, Pot, SC Militig, served in SC Troops under Capt J OHN GOIN. (A
Roster of Revolutionary Soldiers & Patriots in AL, Al DAR)

Roster of SC Patriots in the American Revolution:
IAMES GAYN. He served in the militia and was at the fall of Charleston (Yearbook, City of Charleston,
SC, Charleston: Walker, Evans, & Cogwell Co, 1897)
ISOM GOIN. He served in the light dragoons under Col Wade Hampton. A52922 A=(Audited Accounts
2922A in SC Archives).
JAMES GAIN. See JAMES GATN.
JOHN GODN. He enlisted in the Fourth Regiment on 15 Sep 1777. He served as a captaim under Gen
Pickens during 1781. (Barnet, Thomas, 51297 1=cross reference from:); NAZS53=(Lists of NC and 5C
Troaps and of Officers and Men of Continental Organizations Raised from more that one state, 1775-
1783. Washington, DC National Archives, M853, roll 15)
WILLIAM GOIN. He served as a sergeant in the light dragoons under Lt Col Samuel Hammond AA2023,
M23.
LEVI GOIMES. See LEVI GAINES.
LEVI GAINES. R3865. After entering service about 1780, he served under Capt John Gray, Col John
Winn and Gen Winn and was in the battle of Congaree fort.
DAVID GOING. He enlisted in the Sixth Regiment on 22 October 1776. NA853.
FREDERICK GOING. married MARY ____ He was killed in the seige of Charleston. AA2923A
RAPES GOING. He enlisted in the Second Regiment on 1 July 1779 under Capt Thomas Hall. Saffell, p
292, NARS3.
SHERTED GOING. He enlisted in the Fifth Regiment on 10 August 1778. NA853.
DRURY GOINS. See DRURY GROINS.
DRURY GROINS. He served in the militia during 1781 and 1782 under Col Winn AA2924, 098.
DANIEL GOYEN. He served under Lt John Hollis in the militia during 1782. AA3015; Q476.
HENRY GOYEN. He served under Lt John Hollis in the militia during 1782. AA3016; Q473.
JOHN GOYEN. He served in the militia under Lt James Pickett, Capt Lewis and General Henderson
during 1783. AA3017, Q474.
WILLIAM GOYEN. He served in the militia under Capt Charles Lewis during 1782. AA30138.
WILLIAM GOYEN. He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 24 July 1776. NA853=(Lists of NC and 5C
Troops and of Officers and Men of Continental Organizations Raised from more that one state, 1775-
1783. Washington, DC, National Archives, M853, Roll 18).
JAMES GOYNE. 830442. bom 30 May 1755, Mecklenburg Co, Va (Mecklenburg formed 1765 from
Lunenburg). While residing in Camden District, he was drafted during 1776 and served under Lt William
Daugherty, Capt John Smith and Col John Winn of the militia. In late 1779, he volunteered to serve under
Capt John Nixon and marched into the Indian country. Next, he volunteered under Capt Charles ,Lt
Col Patrick Mc Griff and Co! Lacey and was in the battle at Biggin Church. In June 1782, he was drafted
and served under Lt Charles Pickett and Maj Odear (7). (Moved to Ga and Miss)



2pr 1785. DRURY GOING is appointed by the Court Surveyor of the Road leading from Loves
ford to Biggers Femry as far a5 Chester County extends (and it is Ordered that the male Tithables that
formerly laboured on the Bounds aforesaid) do assist the said surveyor in laying off clearing & keeping
the said road in repair according to law. Chester Co Order Bk A, April Court 1785, p 9. (Holcomb, Bret H
& Elmer O Parker. Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, 1785-1799, So Hist Press, 1979)

9 Aug 1786, Stub entry #3520, Lib X, To --- for Esta of DAVID GOWEN dec'd L12-4-3 1/4 Stg
duty in Roebucks Regt V a/audited Principal L1 2-4-3 1/4, Interest 17/1. (Stub Entries to
Indents for Revolutionary Claims against SC growing out of the Revolution, Book X, Part 2, the
Historical Commission of SC)

9 Aug 1786, Stub entry #3521, Lib X, EDWARD GOWEN, L70-1-5 Stg duty in Roebucks Reg V
/audited Drincipal L70-1-5, Interest L18. (ibid)

14 Aug 1786, Stub entry #3522, Lib X, to Mr JOHN GOWAN for L76-11-5 Stg duty in
Roebucks Regt V a/audited. Principal L76-11-5, interest L7-2. (ibid)

1 Sep 1787, Merry McGuire, planter of Union Co, to DRURY GOWING of Chester Co, SC for
100 pds current money, 319 ac granted to sd Merry McGuire on 5 Jun 1786 by Wm Moultrie, Esq, Gov
of SC. Located on south side of Broad river and bound by Hughes' land, Esquire Brown, Samue] Talbot,
Joseph Polson and vacant lands. Wit: James Savage, Joshus Palmore, William (x) Sharp. No recording
date. Grantee's name also spelled Gowen and Going in the deed. Union Co, SC Deed Bk &, pp 469-471.
(Lucas, Rev Silas E, Jr. some SC Co Records, Vol 2, 1589)

24 Sep 1787, A Dead of Conveyance from Mery McGuire to DREWRY GOING acknowledged
in Open Court and Ordered to be recorded (Holcomb, Brent H. Union Co, SC Minutes of the County
Court 1785-1799, 1979, p 139)

ISAAC GOING and William Spear members of Skull Shoals Baptist Church {originally Pacolet
Church), Union Co (later Cherokee Co) (Rice. A History of Union Co, SC, Union Co Historical
Foundation, A Press, Inc.) (Note: Pacolet Baptist Church on north side of Pacolet River, near juncture
with Broad River.)

1 Jul 1788, DRURY GOING bought land in Chester Co. (Deed Bk B, p 69)

Jul Ct 1788,
Jonathan Jones--Plaintiff
Wm Jones--Defendant
Dismissed by the Plaintiff. Defendant to pay his own Attorney fee. DRURY GOING being charged with
having begotten an illegitimate Infant on the Body of Sarah golden came into Cowrt and Confessed the fact
Whereupon it is considered by the Court that they make their fines by paying the sum of five punds
Procllamation money and the said GOING acknowledged himself bound to pay the said Sarah's fine and all
Coosts accruing and that he is liable for the maintenance of the said Infant & stay of Execution till next

Court. Order Bk A, p 358. (Holcomb, SC Minutes, op cit)

SApr 1789, A deed of conveyance from John Longto DRURY GOING that was proven before 8
Singal Justice was produced in open Cowrt & ordered to be Recorded Order Bk B, p 30. (Holcomb,
Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, op cit)

12 Apr 1789, Stub entry #2396, Bk X, Mr Gabriel Moffett for 49 pounds, eight shillings & six
pence, three farthings sterling for duty done in Capt Briggs, Parson, GOWENS companies, Roebucks
Regiment a5 pr account audited. Principal L49-8-6 3/4, annual initerest L3-9-2. (ibid)

8 Jan 1790 (sic), On the motion of the Clerk ordered that all the money that DRURY GOING



was fined in for Bastardy is to be paid to him in discount of what the County owes him. Order Bk B, p 29.
(Holcomb, Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, op cit)

1790 US Census, Camden Dist, SC:
Chester Co:
DRURY GOINS: 3-3-4-0-6
Clarendon Co:
THOMAS GOWIN: 2-2-2-0-0
Fairfield Co:
DANIEL GOWEN: 1-3-2-0-0 (4 names prior to Alex)
ALEXR GOWIN: 1-3-5-0-0.
HENRY GOWIN: 1-1-3-0-0 (next after Alex)
JOHN GOWIN: 1-1-3-0-0
JESSE GOI¥: 1-2-1-0-0
DANIEL GOIN: 1-3-2-0-2
(Legend: FWM of age 16 & upward inc] heads of families--FWM under age 16--FWF incl heads of
families--All other free persons--Slaves)

11 Oct 1791, Indenture made between DRURY GOING and Assa Tindall both of Chester Co. For
love and sffection I bear for my son-in-law Assa Tindall and for his better support, I give, grant and convey
100 ac on a branch of Turkey Creek, waters of Broad river, adj James Kirkpatrick, Clayton Rogers. All
other sides vacant. Orig granted to John Long on 6 Jun 1785. Wit: Buttrick Rogers, Sarah Rogers, Isaac
Rogers. Signed: DRURY (%) GOING, seal. Attested bef Clayton Rogers, JP by Isaac Rogers, 24 Jan 1792
Union Co, SC Deed Bk B, p 541. (Lucas, Rev Silas E Jr. Some SC Co Records, Vol 2, 1989)

13 Jan 1792, Indenture made bet DRURY GOING of Chester Co and Robert Elliott of Union Co
sum of 1000 pds lawful money for two tracts of land, one containing 250 ac on Broad River where
GOING now lives. This tract adj Aron Locqurts (Lockart) land. The other tract of 100 ac including Elliott
old field this tract adj Joseph Roberson. the 250 &c tract was granted to Benjamin Love 3 Feb 1754 from
Love to Robert Elliott, who sold to DRURY GOING. The 100 ac tract granted to Mary McMullough 23
Tan 1752, from McMullough to Robert Elliott who sold to DRURY GOING. GOING sells both tracts
back to Elliott. Wit: JOB GOING, John Hill, ISAAC GOING. Signed: DRURY (x) GOING. Attested bef
Wm Gaston, JP, by JOR GOING. 10 Feb 1792. Union Co, SC Deed Bk B, p 542. (Lucas, op cit)

1785-1799, Ordered that the County Treasurer pay Majr. JOEN GOWEN the Sheriff for this
County, the sum of five pounds for his Extri Services for one year.

The Last will and Testament of WILLIAM GOWEN deceased, proven in open court by the
evidence of Millington Easly, According to law. Ordered to Record

At an Intermediate Court begun and Held for the County of Spartanburg at the Cowrt House on the
Second Monday in April 1792.
the Judges not appearing, Court was adjourned untill Tomorrow Nine O'clock

Tuesday the 10th of the same Instant, the Honorable Court met according to adjournment.
Present Their Honors William Smith & Baylis Earle, Esquires.
(Holcomb, Brent H. Spartanburgh Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, 1785-1799, 1980)

17 Sep 1792, ... that ILEVI GOYEN of the state of SC Fairfield Co and for divers good causes
consideration me hereunto maving have made and constitute and by these present for me my heirs Estt Att
and every of those do make...my trusty friend JOHN GOYEN of the state of NC Daverson Co gentm my
true and lawful attorney...to s=ll & certain tract of land lying on Mill Creek on the east side of Daverson
County aforesaid the said land being first in the hands of DAVID GOYEN dec'd ______ wentto
Cumberland river in the year 1779 and were killed by the Indians in the year 1780 and left the said Malatto
LEVI GOYEN his proper heir in law the said tract contg 640 acres and I do hereby grant unto my said
attorney my sale and full power...and follow such legal courses for confirming the right of sd land unto
himself...



..

T witness whereof T have set my hand and seal 17 Sep 1792 LEVI () GOWEN,

§.8.&D. in presence of: William Eashy, Benj Boyd--Fairfield Co, SC.

Before me appeared Becky EI___ formerly BECKY GOWEN by a former husband DAVID GOWEN and
after being duly sworn deposeth and saith that she had a son by the afsd DAVID narnad DAVID GOYEN
who about 14 years ago left this county and as she was informed went to Cumberland River in N Carolina
and was killed by the Indians sd deponant firther saith on oath that LEVI GOWEN who now appoints
JOHN GOWEN ss his atty is the full and oldest brother to the afsd DAVID GOWEN. Becky (%) Elcot

Swom and subscribad this 17th day Sept 1792 before me Benj Boyd JFC, Fairfield Co. I do hereby certify
that the above named LEVT GOWEN passeth in this county for a free Malatto and it is said was born here.
Given under my hand this 17th Sept 1792.

signed Benj Boyd, JFC

(The Bulletin, Chester Dist Genealogical Society, Vol I{, No 11, June 1986, pp 51-52)

Jan 1793, Pursusnt to law the Court doth proceed to draw the Grand Jury & Petit Juries to serve
at the Jan Term 1793 who are as follows viz The Grand Jury to wit,. DRURY GOING.... Order Bk B, p
179. (Holcomb, Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, op cit)

13 Jun 1794 (marginal note), Estrays. The following estrays are recorded at the end of Order Bk
B. These pasges ars not numberad and blank pages ocour.
DRURY GOING tolls a Sorrell horse about 7 years old paces natural Branded unknown about 14 hands

high his hind feet white said Estray apparised to L8-0-0.

24 Jun 1795, Constables of Chester Co, viz: JOB GOEN.
JOB GOEN is appointed a Constable for Chester Co & Clayton Rogers Esq.r is authorised to Administer
the ordinary Oaths according to Law to act as such. Order Bk 1795-1799. (Holcomb. Chester Co, 5C

Minutes of the County Court, op cit)

25 Jul 1796, A Citation having issued to shew cause why Letters of Administration should not be
Granated to Clayton Rogers Esq.r & ELITAH GOINGS as administrators of the Estate of DEWEY GOING
Deceased & no objections being made to Direct the Court to the contrary but Clayton Rogers not
appesring to Join the said Administration Ordered that be granted to the said ELITAH GOING & SARAH
GOINGS as admor & Admors of the said Decedents Estate upon their complying with what the law in that
case requires. Order Bk 1795-1799. (Holcomb. Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, op cit)

10 Sep 1796, Ordered that an order of Sale do issue on the Estate of DRURY GOINGS such part
thereof as the Admors thereof shall think necessary on a Credit of Twelve months. Order Bk 1795-1799.
(Holcorab. Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Court, op cit)

24 Tan 1797, A citation having issued to shew cause to who Letters Administrartion should not
be granted to HUGH GOING & Nancy Young Admor & Admrs of the Estate of James Young Dec.d & no
aabgjections being made to Direct the court to the contrary Ordered that they be gppointed Admors upon
their complying with what the Law in that case requires (Clk paid) Marginal note.

A2 Sale Bill & Inventory of the Estate of DREWRY GOING Dec.d was produced in open Court

and ordered to be recorded.
Order Bk 1795-1799. (Holcomb. Chester Co, SC Minutes of the County Couwrt, op cit)

1800 US Census:
Chester Co.
p 94. ELITAH GOIN: ¢0110-10100-03
p 90. ISAAC GOIN: 10200-02101-00
p 90. JOB GODN: 40110-00000-02



Fairfield Co.
p 228. DANIEL GOINGS: 22001-40010-09
p 218 HENRY GOINGS: 31010-01000-00

25 Oct 1806, Marion Dist Minute Book of the Ordinary:
Letters of Guardianship granted to Ann Adams guardian for Selander Strother supposed the dau of
DRURA GOWINGS, a minor aged about 14 years late of Little Peedee. (The SC Magazine of Ancestral
Research, Vol X, No 3, Summer 1982, p 143)

1810 US Census Inedex, SC
Chester Co.
p 262. JOB GOYEN
p 262. SARAH GOYEN
Fairfield Co.
p 182. DANIEL GOINGS
p 185. HEZEKIAH GOINGS
p 182. HUGH GOINGS
Union Co.
p 244, ISAAC GOWEN

1220 US Census, SC.
Chester Co.
p 58. JOB GOYEN: 200101-21010
Fairfield Co.
p 150. DANIEL GOINS: 200010-00010
p 150. DANIEL GOINS JR. 000100-20100
p 150. DANIEL GOINS SR: 100010-00100
p 154. DILLARD GOINS: 100100-01110
p 152. HEZEKIAH GOINS: 100010-21010
p 150. HUGH GOINS: 210010-21010
p 150. ROBERT GOINS: 000100-00100
p 150. WILLIAM GOINS: 100100-20100
Union Co.
p 132. ISAAAC GOING: 410001-01010
p 128, VINCENT GOING: 100100-01001

Epitaphs of 18th & 10th Century Settlers in Union Co, SC and their descendants:
Forest Lawn Cemetery:
G W GOING JR. 4-1-1909/7-7-1947

Gilead Baptist Church Ceretery:
BOBBIE G GOING. No dates, sonof WT & Y F GOING.

Going Cemetery:

RERECCA PALMER GOING. 2-1-1789/8-1-1855. Wife of ISAAC GOING.

ISAAC GOING. 4-28-1775/6-22-18651.

Father and Mother. They were members of Pacolet Ga. (sic) Baptist Church

Monument erected by W G W Going -

ABRAM EGEBERT GOING. 11-11-1875/4-23-1876

DRURY D GOING. 11-25-1815/depated this life Sept 1878

MIRIAM SHARP GOING. 2-15-1835/5-26-1878. Third wife of DRURY D GOING
SARAH SPEARS GOING. 9-15-1814/2-8-1862. First wife of DRURY D GOING
ELIZARETH WATT GOING. 3-17-1834/6-20-1886. Second wife of DRURY D GOING



Memorial Garden Cemetery:

AVERNELLE B GOING. born 8-2-1915.

JAMES E GOING. 3-30-1915/4-5-1973.

WILLIAM I GOING. 1877-1955.

ANN GAULT GOING. 1876-1957.

ESTER J GOINS. bom 1903,

DAVID J GOINS, SR. 1889-1986.

O T GOING. 3-22-1925/2-16-1835 (sic).

INFANT GOING. no date. Son of B T and ETTA GOING.

Mount Lebanon Cemetery:

JOHN THOMAS GOING. 8-16-1861/9-2-1948.

IZORA LENOTIA COLE GOING. 1-28-1858/8-26-1937.
WILLIAM D GOING. 8-11-1882/2-27-1907. )
MACK V GOING. 12-158-1879/2-26-1943.

LILLIAN S GOING. 1-21-1878/5-19-1916.

JAMES D GOING. 5-5-1860/7-2-180%8.

W G W GOING. 7-17-1824/10-7-19135.

NANCY M GOING. 6-3-1827/11-13-1903.

SARAH GOING. 10-15-1849/3-28-1884, wife of B B GOING.
EDDY GOING. b & d 1880, son of W & M GOING.
WALLACE THOMSON GOING. 3-11-1893/5-19-1915.
ELIZAH V GOING. 3-25-1853/7-7-1922.

MARGARET GOING. 4-12-1853/5-12-1939.

ARTHUR J GOING. 4-20-1895/4-26-1944.

Mount Vernon Cemetery:
MR & MRS D A GOING, no dates.

New Hope Methodist Cemetery:
MARY E GOING. 1849-1919, his wife.

Padgett Creek Paptist Church Cemetery:
ANN C GOING. 12-17-1845/11-8-1885, wife of JOHN § GOING.

Porter Cemetery:

MARY J GOING. 5-26-1871/11-24-1898, wife of GEORGE W GOING.

MARY J GOING. 10-7-1893/10-29-1899.

TOMPIE GOING. 10-18-1853/11-12-1897, wife of B B GOING, born at Adairsville Georgia
MARY STEPHENS GOING. died 1-20-1904 (age 31 years), wife of Dr J G GOING.

Putnam Cemetery:

JACOR GOINS. 1-28-1874/1-18-1937.

MARTHA JOHNSON GOINS. 10-30-1881/2-4-1959, wife of JACOB GOINS.
LUCIAN GOING. 7-10-1910/2-13-1938.

JOHN G GOINGS. died 12-29-1928.

SALLIE GOINGS. died 10-12-1931.

Rosemont Cemetery:

GILLIAM JETER GOING. 7-21-1906 (age 8 mos) died, son of J G & O J GOING.
OTTIS EARL GOING. 6-14-1893/10-23-1933.

DrJ G GOING. 4-10-1856/4-26-1950.

OPHELIA JETER GOING. 9-15-1873/1-7-1938.

GOING INFANT. b & d 7-15-1934, son of CLYDE & SARAH GOING.



GEORGE WASHINGTON GOING. 5-16-1862/8-2-1934.

ANNIE T GOING. 12-12-1868/12-30-1914, wife of GEORGE W GOING.
GOING INFANTS. no dates, sons of HENRY & EDITH GOING.

SISSIE ELIZARETH GOING. 5-16-1869/11-18-1915, wife of JACOB GOING.
JACOB GOING. 2-26-1876/1965. Mason.

ELMORA ELLER GOING. born 9-15-1883, wife of JACOB GOING.
RAMOTH GOING. 9-18-1842/11-13-1922, wife of W P GOING.

B B GOING. 2-25-1856/9-9-1931.

REATRICE WILBURN GOING. 11-20-1886/6-1-1922, wife of B B GOING.
LULA GAULT GOING. 2-1-1884/1-11-1966.

SAMUEL R GOING. 3-16-1884/7-7-1661.

GOING INFANT. 9-3-1910/9-5-1910, son of Mr & Mrs SAM GOING.
JENNIE SUE GOIN. b & d 1-11-1942, dsu of RUBIN & SOPHIA GOIN.

FRED RICHARD GOING. born 7-10-1914. )

JULIA BRINSON GOING. 10-31-1917/7-4-1971.

(Whaley Sr, Mrs ED. Union Co Cemeteries, Epitaphs of 18th & 19th Century Settlelrs in Union Co, SC
and their descendants)
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Genealogy Resource Library

From: Genealogy Resource Library [fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net]
Sent: Wednesday, February 04, 2015 8:13 PM

To: 'Scott Withrow'

Subject: RE: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Hello Scott,
Your request is now number #12 of the 20 remaining request.
Thanks for your patience with us.

Apparently good news, the word must be out about us (see FYI below).
However, we are still supplied by a volunteer staff, with fewer and lesser hours over the
holidays.

As FYI: we use to get on average about 3 request per month, this past year our average was 20
request per month, 19 last month;

our walk-in visitors is up from January 2014, 110, this past year our average was 139
walk-ins per month, 158 last month;

out of state visitors is up from January 2014, 2, this past year our average was 14
out of state visitors per month, 11 last month.

We would love to provide our services at no cost and hope to one day be able to provide this
service.

However, at this time we are totally supported by volunteers and donations.

On our membership application you will see we provide a multiple of research tools and
supplies for researchers.

We are a 501-C3 society and all donations are tax deductible.

Normally, we encourage researchers to become members of our chapter (see website).

Members receive free priority research and free paper copies for their membership year.

For non-members, we normally charge $15 per request (3 hours) and $.10 per copies.

For our records would you please share any information you have updated on your family lines.
The information will be filed and made available in our family files.
This will aide to expedite future request for research and assist walk-in researchers.

Please let us know if you need any further assistance and feel free to call us to check the
status of your request.

Eddie

Eddie Killian
Fairfield County Genealogy Society, President
Fairfield County Genealogy Society Library Research Volunteer

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This email, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s) and

may contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized use, review,
disclosure or distribution is

prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately and
delete and destroy all

copies of the original message.

Fairfield County Genealogy Society



Mail:

Library:

Office Hours:

Phone:
Fax:
Email:
Website:

Meeting Date:

museum)

Projects:
Outreach
Officers:

Fairfield County Genealogy Society

P.0. Box 93

Winnsboro, SC 29186-0093

2nd Floor of the Fairfield County Museum

231 South Congress Street

Winnsboro, SC

Tuesday - Friday 10:00AM-5:00PM; (Lunch 12:30PM-1:30PM)
Monday or Saturday by appointment only
Volunteer staffed, please call before coming
(803) 635-9811

(803) 815-9811
mailto:fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net
http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org

Normally 3rd Thursday of the Month (usually at

Please check web site announcement page for latest details

http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org/announcements.htm

Research Library, Abandoned Cemeteries, DNA, Social Media, Community

Please check web site officers page
http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org/officers.htm

From: Scott Withrow [mailto:swithrow2513@gmail.com]

Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 8:52 PM

To: Kenneth.A.Shelton.ctr@nga.mil

Cc: Fairfield Museum; kliliya@frontier.com; fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net
Subject: Re: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Ken,

Thank you for the detailed reply. it straightened out my thinking on some things. I gather, then, that, if Drury
Going was with anyone under Marion it may have been with Col Richard Winn at Eutaw Springs. Otherwise,
he would have been more likely with Sumter?

What is the title of your book? I kept up with all Revolutionary War related books there for a while.

Thanks again,

Scott Withrow

On Tue, Jan 13, 2015 at 12:56 PM, <Kenneth.A.Shelton.ctr@nga.mil> wrote:
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

Col John Winn was active before the Fall of Charleston, e.g. up to June 1780. He was captured by Cornwallis
and given parole -- I reprinted his parole certificate in my book. He doesn't seem to be active after that -- there
is a note in the Winn History Book that around Dec 1780 he was threatened with hanging for violating his
parole (obviously not carried out), but I haven't seen anything to indicate he was actively leading a unit after

being paroled.

Richard Winn obviously was active before (as Captain and I think Major for a short period of time) and after (as
Lt Colonel & Colonel). I don’t think he made General during the war -- that would have put him in direct
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competition with Gen Sumter, who was notoriously prickly about such things. Lossing says he made General
via election after the war was over. It would have been impolitic to have promoted a subordinate of Sumter's
into a position of competing authority. Winn, as far as I have seen, served exclusively under Sumter after
Charleston. Before that...I doubt he served in an official reporting capacity under Marion since Marion wasn't
made a General until Dec 1780. We also had this running debate a few months ago about what Marion was
doing vs. what Sumter was doing when we had the Dutchman's Creek "Battle" question debated -- and Marion
was further southwest the whole time while Sumter was in Fairfield / Chester / York / Lancaster Counties and
did not leave it. By and large they rarely went out of their immediate districts, and if so, it wasn't for very long -
- a specific campaign or even battle. Also, Sumter and Marion -- while not disputing each other -- from what
I've read didn't really "work together" well, in the military sense (and Sumter period was complained about for
his "doesn't play well with others" nature). It would seem very odd to me to have Richard Winn's Fairfield unit
officially cut to and organized under Marion without Sumter literally having a cow over it since that would be
Marion poaching on Sumter's turf. I suppose it could have happened, but I doubt it. If the attribution is based
on the attachment that states "....regiment commanded by Col. Winn during the Revolutionary War. The
regiment was under the overall command of Gen. Francis Marion...", I am pretty sure that is factually wrong.
Richard Winn was organizationally under Sumter as far as I know. Now, however, you do cite the battlefield
exception -- yes, at Eutaw Springs, Richard Winn was present with 5 companies (at least):

http://www.carolana.com/SC/Revolution/revolution_battle of eutaw_springs.html

Fairfield Regiment detachment led by Col. Richard Winn, with five (5) known companies, led by:
- Capt. Robert Frost '

- Capt. Edward Martin

- Capt. John McCool

- Capt. Felix Warley

- Capt. John Watts

Why wasn't he under Sumter? Well, according to this, Sumter was on sick leave at the time. Greene as the
overall commander put Marion in charge of all militia (which was probably only feasible because Sumter wasn't
there, otherwise it would have been an internal fight). And Greene is also documented as not really getting the
whole SC militia general politics thing, so he would injure pride and ruffle feathers sometimes by directing so-
and-so to report to so-and-so, get a letter from the offended party offering resignation and affront, Greene
backtracks and mollifies, etc. etc. Plus, Sumter was the senior General -- it would have been a very real and
actual affront to put Marion in charge over Sumter, which is all the more reason why it is pretty much a given
Sumter wasn't at Eutaw Springs.

So did Richard Winn's regiment "serve" under Francis Marion -- yes, at specific times and when Sumter was
incapacitated. Otherwise, he is under Sumter who was the commander of Fairfield District. It's not a clean
"yes or no" answer, but then the whole militia organization wasn't a "yes or no" answer.

Ken S.

From: Fairfield Museum [mailto:fairfieldmus@truvista.net]

Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 10:43 AM

To: Scott Withrow; kliliya@frontier.com; 'Genealogy Resource Library'; Shelton Kenneth A Dr NGA-TIC
USA CTR; kliliva@frontier.com

Subject: FW: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/




Scott,

I am glad you contacted me as I enjoyed reading the Goynes materials, having known a number of researchers
of differing racial backgrounds have connections to the early family name. Val Green has often mentioned the
NA connections, and I know this is an area of your expertise also. I am copying here to Kenneth Shelton, who
is a historian with Fairfield Connections quite knowledgeable about our early families and their associated
places, etc. He has done a lot of work toward an expansive colonial/early federal period plat overlay of
Fairfield and nearby areas. You may want to pose a specific question to him at the above address. Keep me in
the loop as I am very interested in reading. Also, including Val on the Cc here.

You had misspelled fairfield in the address.

-Pelham

From: Scott Withrow [mailto:swithrow2513@gmail.com]
Sent: Monday, January 12, 2015 10:12 PM

To: fairfieldmus@truvista.net

Subject: Fwd: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Pelham, This bounced with Eddie Killian's email address. Could you forward it to him, or give him his correct
email address? I must have made a mistake in writing it down. Hope everything is well with you,

Scott Withrow

---------- Forwarded message ----------

From: Scott Withrow <swithrow2513@gmail.com>
Date: Mon, Jan 12, 2015 at 10:04 PM

Subject: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

To: fairieldgenealogy@truvista.net

Eddie and Pelham:

Thanks for speaking with me today.

I am researching the Goings family in the American Revolution for a chapter in a book on the
Goins/Goings/Gowan/Gowen/Goyne family. The name was spelled any number of ways; some persons related
even though their names were spelled differently, some not.



One of the persons I am researching is Drury/Drewery Going, who lived in Chester County (Camden District),
it appears near the confluence of Turkey Creek and Broad River. Someone with the Gowen Research
Foundation wrote that he served under Francis Marion. I checked his Stub Indent, and see no indication of his
being under Marion. (It may be a family story) Since he was from Chester County it appears he more likely
served under Thomas Sumter. He lived not far from Fishdam Ford. According to records, he did at one time
serve under Winn. I believe there were Colonels John Winn and William Winn, and General Richard Winn
(sometimes referred to as Colonel Winn). I think likely he served under John Winn, but I am not sure.. But, I
wonder if Col. Winn and his men were ever placed with Marion, say at the Battle of Eutaw Springs? (See the 2
attachments on Drury Going.)

Besides the fact that Drury Going fought under Winn there were other Fairfield Connections. James Goyne
served in the South Carolina Militia, and according to on researcher for the Gowen Research Foundation, lived
in Fairfield County. (3 attachments)

I don't have it in front of me, but I believe I read of other Goings in Fairfield, perhaps Daniel Going(s).

Dr. Bobby Moss, in his Roster of South Carolina Patriots in the American Revolution, lists (page 392) Drury
Goins as Groins, Drury and states "He served in the militia during 1781 and 1782 under Col. Winn. A. A.
22924; 098." Dr._ Moss states for James Goyne: "b. 30 My 1755, in Meckelenburg County, Va.

While residing in Camden District, he was drafted during 1776 and served under Lt. William Daugherty, Capt.
John smith, and Col. John Winn of the militia.......... " I don't whether Drury Going and James Goyne were

related, despite the different spelling of their names. Both lived for a time in Chester County before James
Goyne apparently moved to Fairfield, and both fought under Winn?

I have much of the Gowen Research Foundation information, but I understand some of the authors are not
dependable so I am checking all documents myself.

Thanks for any help you can give,

Scott Withrow

Greer, SC
(864) 380-8652 <tel:%28864%29%20380-8652> cellphone

(864)877-3259 <tel:%28864%29877-3259> home




From the files of Carrcll Heard Goyne, Jr
10019 Canterbury Dr.

Shrevepert, LA 71106

(318) 798-7108

Husband: Isaac Geing (RN=2662)
Born 28 Apr 1775
Harr 21 Aug 1804 Place Union Co, SC
Died 22 Jun 186] Plate Union Co, SC
Bur Place Going Cew, Union (o, SC

Husband's

Father Drury Going (R) (RN=2816)

Husband's

Wife: Rebecca Palmer (RN=2664)

Born 01 Feb 1789

Died 31 Aug 1855 Place Union Co, SC
Bur Place Going Cew, Union Co, SC

Bife's

Father John Palmer (d 28 Jan 1828) (No Rererd)

#E Children

1 N Thomas Baxter Going (RN=2665)

2 F Sarah Palmer Going (RN=2666)

3 M John Madison Going (RN=2667)

¢ M Elijsh Bobe Going (RN=2668)

5 M Drury Dobbins Going (RN=2669)

6 M Isaar McKissick Going (RN=2670)

7 F Rhoda Going (RN=2671)

8 M W¥illiam George Washington Going (CSA!
(RN=2672)

9 M Awmasa Vernon Going (CSA) (RN=2673)

10 ¥ Elisha Palmer Going (CSA) (RN=2674}

Flate Chester (o, 5C

Husband's

Mather Sarah Baxier (RN=2661)

Bife's

Hother Martha Palmer (d 19 Aug 1813) (No Record)

Born

13 Hay 1806
Union Co, SC

13 Jul 1808
S

14 Jul 1810
Union Co, SC

15 Jan 1813
Union Co, SC

24 Nov 1815
i

02 Sep 1818
Union Co, SC

24 Aug 182
Union Co, SC

17 Jul 1824
§C

30 Jan 1827
Union Co, SC

2B Dec 1829
Union Co, SC

First Marriage Died

20 Feb 1825 09 May 1836
Elizabeth Vinson (RN=2732)

25 Jul 1844

16 Feb 1827

y
‘lée517§7e

Sarah Spears (RN=2676)

10 Aug 1840

/

16 Sep 1847 7 07 Dct 1915
Nancy Minerva Jane Dupree (RN=270%)

16 Jul 1864



A
11 F Hartha Kergp Happuch Going (RN=2675)

Notes

H-1 Baptized Jun 1803, Pacolet Bapt Church
H-2 Deacon 45 yrs

H-3 Near blind in old age

¥-1 Hember Pacolet (Skull Shoals) Bapt Church
4-2 Dec'd "after a few hours sickness.”

(3)-1 Joined Pacolet Bapt Church

{(7)-1 Joined Pacolet Bapl Church

(8)-1 Pvt, Co €, 11th Reg, SC Cavalry

(10)-1 Killed by cannon ball

04 Jul 1378
Union Co, SC

Other Marriages
(§)-2 Elizdbeth Vati (RN=2677)
(5)-3 Miriam Sharp (RN=2678)



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED



Fros the files of Carroll Heard Goyne, Jr

10019 Canterbury Dr.
Shreveport, LA 71106
(318) 798-7108

Husband: James Goyne (RN=2746)

Born 1777

Place 5C
Died Mar 1837
Husband's
Father Drury Going (R) (RN=2816)
Husband's

Wife: Elizabeth Cook (RN=2792)
Born 1786

Place Chester Co, SC

Plate Chester Co, 8C

Place Montgomery Co, Tn#3

Husband's

Hother Sarah Baxter (RN=2661)

Place To Tuscaloosa Co, Al in 1837X1

Yife's
N/F Children

1 M 1795-1801 (No Record)

2 K 1802-1804 (No Record)
3 F 1805-1810 (No Record)
4 F 1805-1810 (Ko Record)

5 M John C Goyne (RN=2811)

¢ F Elizabeth A Goyne (RN=2808)

7 W Villiaw Goyne (RN=2809)

8 F unk Goyne (RN=2812)
-

9 F HMartha Cordelia Goyne (RN=2813)

10 B James Robert Goyne (RN=2814)

11 M Isaac Newton Goyne (RN=2815)

Vife's

Born

1810-15

Robertson Co, Tn*

1810-15
Robertson Co, Tn

1815-20
Robertson Co, Tn

1820-25
Tn

1820-25
Tn

1820-25
Tn

1825-30
Tn

First Marriage Died

22 Feb 185}
Susan Hickman (RN=2820)

08 Feb 1838
John Harkey (RN=2818)

31" Jul 1839
Henry Willias Thornton (RN=2819)

04 Mar 1841
Malinda Booth (RN=2821)



(©

Notes

H-1 Member Red River Bapl Church, Robertson Co, Tn
(5)-1 M Bk 38, p 174

(6)-1 W Bk 2, p &0

(9)-1 HBk 2 p 70

{10)-1 # Bk 2, p 202

fther Marriages
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Genealogy Resource Library

From: Genealogy Resource Library [fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net]
Sent: Tuesday, October 27, 2015 2:03 PM

To: 'Scott Withrow'

Subject: RE: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Hello Scott,

Your request is now number #1 of the 14 remaining non-member request.
Besides walk-in’s, there are 6 member request in front of your request.

Thanks for your patience with us. I have been working as time permits on your request the
last few days.

We would love to provide our services at no cost and hope to one day be able to provide this
service.

However, at this time we are totally supported by volunteers and donations.

On our membership application you will see we provide a multiple of research tools and
supplies for researchers.

We are a 501-C3 society and all donations are tax deductible.

Normally, we encourage researchers to become members of our chapter (see website).
Members receive free priority research and free paper copies for their membership year.
For non-members, we normally charge $15 per request (3 hours) and $.10 per copies.

For our records would you please share any information you have updated on your family lines.
The information will be filed and made available in our family files.
This will aide to expedite future request for research and assist walk-in researchers.

Please let us know if you need any further assistance and feel free to call us to check the
status of your request.

Eddie

Eddie Killian
FCGS-Fairfield County Genealogy Society, President
Fairfield County Archives and Family Resource Library Research Volunteer

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This email, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s) and

may contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized use, review,
disclosure or distribution is

prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately and
delete and destroy all

copies of the original message.

Fairfield County Genealogy Society

Mail: Fairfield County Genealogy Society
P.0. Box 93
Winnsboro, SC 29180-0093
Library: 2nd Floor of the Fairfield County Museum

231 South Congress Street
Winnsboro, SC
Office Hours: Tuesday - Friday 10:00AM-5:00PM; (Lunch 12:30PM-1:30PM)

1



Saturday, Sunday or Monday by appointment
Volunteer staffed, please call before coming

Phone: (803) 635-9811

Fax: (803) 815-9811

Email: mailto:fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net
Website: http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org

Meeting Date: Normally 3rd Thursday of the Month (usually at
museum)

Please check web site announcement page for latest details
http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org/announcements.htm

Projects: Research Library, Abandoned Cemeteries, DNA, Social Media, Community
Outreach
Officers: Please check web site officers page

http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org/officers.htm

From: Scott Withrow [mailto:swithrow2513@gmail.com]
Sent: Saturday, September 05, 2015 12:48 PM

To: Genealogy Resource Library

Subject: Re: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Eddie,

I appreciate the reply from Ken Shelton, and it was very helpful in knowing how Drury Goings likely fought in
the Fairfield Militia District and under F. Marion rather than under Thomas Sumter, in whose district he lived.

Further, I am especially interested in the Goin/Going family in Fairfield County and their possible connection
to William Goings of Rutherford County (Free Person of Color descended from Mihil/Michael Gowen, a slave
who was freed.) and ‘the Drury Going family of Chester and Union Counties (a descendant says they were
definitely and may have been so due to the fact that they served on juries and held some public office).
especially identifying the race of either. For example on the latter, Drury Dobbins Going/Goings of Union
County and grandson of Drury Dobbins of Chester Co., was whipped by the Klan in the Reconstruction Era for
his Republican politics as an office-holder.This, however, doesn't necessarily mean they had mixed ancestry.
(Drury Dobbins Going was probably named after my ggg grandfather,Drury Dobbins, early minister of York
County--the part now Spartanburg or Cherokee Counties) and Rutherford County, NC.)

In summary, in regard to the Gowen/Going/Goings family of Fairfield Co., I am looking for racial make-up,
civic or other community involvement, court cases against, and connections to other Goings. As I say, I am
willing to pay a modest fee.

Thank you,

Scott Withrow
(864) 380-8652

On Fri, Sep 4, 2015 at 7:00 PM, Genealogy Resource Library <fairfieldgenealogy(@truvista.net> wrote:

Hello Scott,

Sorry about the delay.



Actually we thought your request was completed by Ken Shelton.

We will re-open your request, get right with it and see what we can find.

Eddie

From: Scott Withrow [mailto:swithrow2513@gmail.com]
Sent: Friday, September 04, 2015 11:50 AM

To: Genealogy Resource Library

Subject: Re: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Eddie,

I haven't heard from you recently. I am still interested in the Goins/Goings research in Fairfield, especially any
connection to the Drury Goings family of Chester and Union counties, and the William Goings family of early
Rutherford County, NC. As I say, I am willing to pay $15 for 3 hours (perhaps not to exceed $100) and 10
cents a copy.

Thank you,

Scott Withrow

(864) 380-8652 cellphone

On Thu, Feb 5, 2015 at 7:29 AM, Scott Withrow <swithrow2513(@gmail.com> wrote:

Eddie,

I didn't realize you were so busy, and I understand the delay. I will be glad to pay the $15/3hours and 10 cents a
copy.

Scott Withrow



On Wed, Feb 4, 2015 at 8:13 PM, Genealogy Resource Library <fairfieldgenealogy(@truvista.net> wrote:

Hello Scott,

Your request is now number #12 of the 20 remaining request.

Thanks for your patience with us.

Apparently good news, the word must be out about us (see FYI below).

However, we are still supplied by a volunteer staff, with fewer and lesser hours over the holidays.

As FYI: we use to get on average about 3 request per month, this past year our average was 20 request per
month, 19 last month;

our walk-in visitors is up from January 2014, 110, this past year our average was 139 walk-ins per month,
158 last month;

out of state visitors is up from January 2014, 2, this past year our average was 14 out of state visitors per
month, 11 last month.

We would love to provide our services at no cost and hope to one day be able to provide this service.
However, at this time we are totally supported by volunteers and donations.

On our membership application you will see we provide a multiple of research tools and supplies for
researchers.

We are a 501-C3 society and all donations are tax deductible.
Normally, we encourage researchers to become members of our chapter (see website).
Members receive free priority research and free paper copies for their membership year.

For non-members, we normally charge $15 per request (3 hours) and $.10 per copies.

For our records would you please share any information you have updated on your family lines.
4



The information will be filed and made available in our family files.

This will aide to expedite future request for research and assist walk-in researchers.

Please let us know if you need any further assistance and feel free to call us to check the status of your request.

Eddie

Eddie Killian
Fairfield County Genealogy Society, President

Fairfield County Genealogy Society Library Research Volunteer

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This email, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s) and

may contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized use, review,
disclosure or distribution is

prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately and
delete and destroy all

copies of the original message.

Fairfield County Genealogy Society

Mail: Fairfield County Genealogy Society
P.0. Box 93
Winnsboro, SC 29180-0093
Library: 2nd Floor of the Fairfield County Museum
231 South Congress Street
Winnsboro, SC

Office Hours: Tuesday - Friday 10:00AM-5:00PM; (Lunch 12:30PM-1:30PM)



Monday or Saturday by appointment only

Volunteer staffed, please call before coming

Phone: (803) 635-9811

Fax: (803) 815-9811

Email: mailto:fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net
Website: http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org

Meeting Date: Normally 3rd Thursday of the Month (usually at
museum)

Please check web site announcement page for latest details

http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org/announcements.htm

Projects: Research Library, Abandoned Cemeteries, DNA, Social Media, Community
QOutreach
Officers: Please check web site officers page

http://www.fairfieldgenealogical.org/officers.htm

From: Scott Withrow [mailto:swithrow2513@gmail.com]

Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 8:52 PM

To: Kenneth.A.Shelton.ctr@nga.mil

Cc: Fairfield Museum; kliliyva@frontier.com; fairfieldgenealogy@truvista.net
Subject: Re: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Ken,

Thank you for the detailed reply. it straightened out my thinking on some things. I gather, then, that, if Drury
Going was with anyone under Marion it may have been with Col Richard Winn at Eutaw Springs. Otherwise,
he would have been more likely with Sumter?

What is the title of your book? I kept up with all Revolutionary War related books there for a while.



Thanks again,

Scott Withrow

On Tue, Jan 13, 2015 at 12:56 PM, <Kenneth.A.Shelton.ctr@nga.mil> wrote:

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

Col John Winn was active before the Fall of Charleston, e.g. up to June 1780. He was captured by Cornwallis
and given parole -- I reprinted his parole certificate in my book. He doesn't seem to be active after that -- there
is a note in the Winn History Book that around Dec 1780 he was threatened with hanging for violating his
parole (obviously not carried out), but I haven't seen anything to indicate he was actively leading a unit after
being paroled.

Richard Winn obviously was active before (as Captain and I think Major for a short period of time) and after (as
Lt Colonel & Colonel). I don’t think he made General during the war -- that would have put him in direct
competition with Gen Sumter, who was notoriously prickly about such things. Lossing says he made General
via election after the war was over. It would have been impolitic to have promoted a subordinate of Sumter's
into a position of competing authority. Winn, as far as I have seen, served exclusively under Sumter after
Charleston. Before that...I doubt he served in an official reporting capacity under Marion since Marion wasn't
made a General until Dec 1780. We also had this running debate a few months ago about what Marion was
doing vs. what Sumter was doing when we had the Dutchman's Creek "Battle" question debated -- and Marion
was further southwest the whole time while Sumter was in Fairfield / Chester / York / Lancaster Counties and
did not leave it. By and large they rarely went out of their immediate districts, and if so, it wasn't for very long -
- a specific campaign or even battle. Also, Sumter and Marion -- while not disputing each other -- from what
I've read didn't really "work together" well, in the military sense (and Sumter period was complained about for
his "doesn't play well with others" nature). It would seem very odd to me to have Richard Winn's Fairfield unit
officially cut to and organized under Marion without Sumter literally having a cow over it since that would be
Marion poaching on Sumter's turf. I suppose it could have happened, but I doubt it. If the attribution is based
on the attachment that states "....regiment commanded by Col. Winn during the Revolutionary War. The
regiment was under the overall command of Gen. Francis Marion...", I am pretty sure that is factually wrong.
Richard Winn was organizationally under Sumter as far as [ know. Now, however, you do cite the battlefield
exception -- yes, at Eutaw Springs, Richard Winn was present with 5 companies (at least):

http://www.carolana.com/SC/Revolution/revolution_battle of eutaw_springs.html

Fairfield Regiment detachment led by Col. Richard Winn, with five (5) known companies, led by:
- Capt. Robert Frost

- Capt. Edward Martin

- Capt. John McCool

- Capt. Felix Warley

- Capt. John Watts

Why wasn't he under Sumter? Well, according to this, Sumter was on sick leave at the time. Greene as the
overall commander put Marion in charge of all militia (which was probably only feasible because Sumter wasn't
there, otherwise it would have been an internal fight). And Greene is also documented as not really getting the
whole SC militia general politics thing, so he would injure pride and ruffle feathers sometimes by directing so-
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and-so to report to so-and-so, get a letter from the offended party offering resignation and affront, Greene
backtracks and mollifies, etc. etc. Plus, Sumter was the senior General -- it would have been a very real and
actual affront to put Marion in charge over Sumter, which is all the more reason why it is pretty much a given
Sumter wasn't at Eutaw Springs.

So did Richard Winn's regiment "serve" under Francis Marion -- yes, at specific times and when Sumter was
incapacitated. Otherwise, he is under Sumter who was the commander of Fairfield District. It's not a clean
"yes or no" answer, but then the whole militia organization wasn't a "yes or no" answer.

Ken S.

From: Fairfield Museum [mailto:fairfieldmus@truvista.net]

Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 10:43 AM

To: Scott Withrow; kliliva@frontier.com; 'Genealogy Resource Library'; Shelton Kenneth A Dr NGA-TIC
USA CTR; kliliva@frontier.com

Subject: FW: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Scott,

I am glad you contacted me as I enjoyed reading the Goynes materials, having known a number of researchers
of differing racial backgrounds have connections to the early family name. Val Green has often mentioned the
NA connections, and I know this is an area of your expertise also. I am copying here to Kenneth Shelton, who
is a historian with Fairfield Connections quite knowledgeable about our early families and their associated
places, etc. He has done a lot of work toward an expansive colonial/early federal period plat overlay of
Fairfield and nearby areas. You may want to pose a specific question to him at the above address. Keep me in
the loop as I am very interested in reading. Also, including Val on the Cc here.

You had misspelled fairfield in the address.

-Pelham

From: Scott Withrow [mailto:swithrow2513(@gmail.com]
Sent: Monday, January 12, 2015 10:12 PM

To: fairfieldmus@truvista.net

Subject: Fwd: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

Pelham, This bounced with Eddie Killian's email address. Could you forward it to him, or give him his correct
email address? Imust have made a mistake in writing it down. Hope everything is well with you,

Scott Withrow



---------- Forwarded message ----------

From: Scott Withrow <swithrow2513@gmail.com>
Date: Mon, Jan 12, 2015 at 10:04 PM

Subject: Drury/Drewery Going/Goings/

To: fairieldgenealogy@truvista.net

Eddie and Pelham:

Thanks for speaking with me today.

I am researching the Goings family in the American Revolution for a chapter in a book on the
Goins/Goings/Gowan/Gowen/Goyne family. The name was spelled any number of ways; some persons related
even though their names were spelled differently, some not.

One of the persons I am researching is Drury/Drewery Going, who lived in Chester County (Camden District),
it appears near the confluence of Turkey Creek and Broad River. Someone with the Gowen Research
Foundation wrote that he served under Francis Marion. I checked his Stub Indent, and see no indication of his
being under Marion. (It may be a family story) Since he was from Chester County it appears he more likely
served under Thomas Sumter. He lived not far from Fishdam Ford. According to records, he did at one time
serve under Winn. I believe there were Colonels John Winn and William Winn, and General Richard Winn
(sometimes referred to as Colonel Winn). I think likely he served under John Winn, but I am not sure.. But, I
wonder if Col. Winn and his men were ever placed with Marion, say at the Battle of Eutaw Springs? (See the 2
attachments on Drury Going.)

Besides the fact that Drury Going fought under Winn there were other Fairfield Connections. James Goyne
served in the South Carolina Militia, and according to on researcher for the Gowen Research Foundation, lived
in Fairfield County. (3 attachments)

I don't have it in front of me, but I believe I read of other Goings in Fairfield, perhaps Daniel Going(s).

Dr. Bobby Moss, in his Roster of South Carolina Patriots in the American Revolution, lists (page 392) Drury
Goins as Groins, Drury and states "He served in the militia during 1781 and 1782 under Col. Winn. A. A.
22924; 098." Dr._Moss states for James Goyne: "b. 30 My 1755, in Meckelenburg County, Va.

While residing in Camden District, he was drafted during 1776 and served under Lt. William Daugherty, Capt.
John smith, and Col. John Winn of the militia.......... " I don't whether Drury Going and James Goyne were
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related, despite the different spelling of their names. Both lived for a time in Chester County before James
Goyne apparently moved to Fairfield, and both fought under Winn?

I have much of the Gowen Research Foundation information, but I understand some of the authors are not
dependable so I am checking all documents myself.

Thanks for any help you can give,

Scott Withrow

Greer, SC

(864) 380-8652 <tel:%28864%29%20380-8652> cellphone

(864)877-3259 <tel:%28864%29877-3259> home

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
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Godfrey, Benjamin

He served as a forage-master in the Continental
Line from 1778 to 1781 and was a sergeant in
the cavalry under Col. Maham during 1781
and 1782. A.A.2917; 0102; Y766.

Godfrey, John

He enlisted on 4 November 1775 and was at
the fall of Charleston. Yearbook, 1897; A.A.
2918; N.A.853.

Godfrey, John

He served, while residing in George Town, as a
horseman in the militia under Capt. James
Cauley and Gen. Marion from May 1781 to
January 1782. A.A.2918; Y282,

Godfrey, John

He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 31 Au-
gust 1777. He was a prisoner on 29 December
1778. N.A.853.

Godfrey, Richard

d. 1817

He served as a forage-master and captain during
1779 and 1781. Heitman, p. 250; S.C.H.&G.,
XVII, 119.

Godfrey, Robert
He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 1 June
1777. N.A.853.

Godfrey, Robert

He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 1 Sep-
tember 1777. He was a prisoner on 29 De-
cember 1778. N.A.853.

Godfrey, Thomas

He served in the Charleston Militia Regiment
under Captain James Bentham during 1778.
S.C.H.&G., LIII, 14.

Godfrey, Thomas
He enlisted in the Fifth Regiment on 24 No-
vember 1776. N.A.853.

Godfrey, Thomas W9456
d. 1804
m. Sarah , 18 July 1787

He served in the artillery at Beaufort under
Capt. Toomer and was in the siege of Savan-
nah, where he was wounded. After being
taken prisoner at the fall of Charleston, he was
held for over a year.

Godfrey, William

b. 4 March 1754

d. 4 January 1787

m. Sarah Britton

He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 1 July
1777. 1In 1779, he was under Capt. Oliver
Towles. P.I; S.C.H.&G., V, 152; N.A.246;
N.A.853.

Godfrey, Wilson
He served in the militia during 1782. A.A.
2920; G203.

Godfry, John
See John Godfrey.

Godhard
See Goddard.

Godwin, Hugh

He served as a captain in the militia and was
taken prisoner at the fall of Charleston. Year-
book, 1897.

Goebel, John
He served as a mariner aboard the frigate
South Carolina. A.A.2920C; X458,

Goetzinger, Adam
See Adam Gitsinger.

Goff, John

He enlisted in the Second Regiment on 8 July
1777. N.A.853.

Goff, John
He served as an assistant commissary of issues
at George Town. A.A.2921; Y554.

Goff, Nathaniel J. $31695
He first served about 1781 in the dragoons un-
der Capt. Thomas Harvey. Upon Harvey’s
death, the company was placed under Lt.
Jesse Johnson, Lt. Col. Samuel Hammond and
Gen. Pickens. He was in the battle at Eutaw
Springs and the siege of Augusta. In addition,
he was under Lt. George Hammond and Gen.
Pickens on an expedition against the Indians.
(Moved to Ga.) A.A.2922; M87.

Goin, Isom
He served in the light dragoons under Col.
Wade Hampton. A.A.2922A.

Goin, James
See James Gayn.

Goin, John

He enlisted in the Fourth Regiment on 15
September 1777. He served as a captain under
Gen. Pickens during 1781. (Barnet, Thomas,
$12971); N.A.853.

Goin, William

He served as a sergeant in the light dragoons
under Lt. Col. Samuel Hammond. A.A.2923;
M23.

Goines, Levi
See Levi Gaines.

Going, David
He enlisted in the Sixth Regiment on 22 Oc-
tober 1776. N.A.853.

Going, Frederick
m. Mary
He was killed in the siege of Charleston. A.A.
2923A.

Going, Rapes

He enlisted in the Second Regiment on 1 July
1779 under Capt. Thomas Hall. Saffell, p. 292;
N.A.853.

Going, Sheried
He enlisted in the Fifth Regiment on 10 Au-
gust 1778, N.A.853.

Goins, Drury
See Drury Groins.

Golden, Andrew R14523
He served five years under Col. Wade Hamp-
ton and Gen. Greene.

Golden, John
He was killed in service. Annuitants Claims.

Golding, Anthony ;

He served fifty-eight days in the militia wagon
service during 1779 and 1780. A.A.2925;
W322; W478.

Golding, Pearce
He served in the militia and was at the fall of
Charleston. Yearbook, 1897.

Golding, Reuben $21770
b. 1743, Orange County, Va.

He entered service on 26 June 1775 and served
three years as a sergeant in the rangers and the
Third Regiment under Capt. John Caldwell,
Maj. Taylor, Lt. Col. Mayson and Col. Thom-
son. Furthermore, he was a lieutenant under
a Capt. Leonard on the Cherokee Indian Ex-
pedition. In addition, he was at the siege of
Ninety Six and the battle at Stono. At one
time, he was under Capt. Lee, Capt. Wallace,
Maj. Hains (?) and Col. Hopkins. At some-
time, he was under Gen. Pickens. S.C.H.&G.,
I, 10, 176; A.A.2927; W474; N.A.853.

Golding, Richard
See Richard Goulding.

Goldman, Curry

He served as a sergeant in the militia and sup-
plied provisions before and after the fall of
Charleston. A.A.2642; U620.

Goldman, Gasper
See Casper Gallman.
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Goldman, Harmon
He served in the militia before and after the
fall of Charleston. A.A.2641; U619.

Goldsmith, John $31699
b. 1761

After entering service during July 1779, he
served under Capt. Thomas Baker and Col.
Cooper. He was in the battles at Mobley’s
Meeting House and Walker’s Plantation. After
being transferred to Capt. Willoughly Barton
and Col. McCoy, he was in the skirmish at
Wallahorn’s Ferry. (Moved to Ga.)

Golightly, David 518888
b. 1757, Va.

d. 27 June 1842

While a resident of Spartanburg District, he
enlisted during June or July 1776 and served
under Capt. Matthew Patton and Col. Patton.
About 1780, he was pressed into service as a
teamster and was also a horseman under Capt.
Josiah Culbertson. He was in the battle at
Cedar Springs. In addition, he was a commis-
sary for Gen. William Henderson at Neel’s Mill
and was with Sumter at the Catawba Nation.
He was at the taking of Thicketty Fort and
the battle of Musgrove’s Mill. He was a lieu-
tenant in the siege of Augusta and a private
in the siege of Ninety Six. At some time, he
was under Col. Roebuck. A.A.2029; X766;
X3515.

Golightly, Hugh
He served in the militia under Col. Roebuck
before and after the fall of Charleston. A.A.
2929A; X3516.

Golightly, John
He served in the militia under Col. Roebuck
before and after the fall of Charleston. A.A.
2929B; X3517.

Golightly, Reuben

He enlisted on 30 October 1775 in the Volun-
teer Company of the Colleton County Regi-
ment of Foot under Capt. Andrew Curnmins.
S.C.H.&G., I1I, 127.

Golightly, Shases (Shans)

He served in the militia under Col. Roebuck
before the fall of Charleston. A.A.2929C;
X3518.

Golightly, William
He served in the militia under Col. Roebuck.
A.A.2931; X3519.

Gollihon, Martin
He served in the militia after the fall of
Charleston. A.A.2932; S482.
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Grist,
He served as a captain. Yearbook, 1893.

Grizel, George
See George Grissel.

Groins, Drury
He served in the militia during 1781 and 1782
under Col. Winn. A.A.2924; 098.

Groning, Herman

He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775 and was at the siege of Sa-
vannah. Yearbook, 1885.

Groning, J ohn
He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775. Yearbook, 1885.

Groom, Moses

He enlisted in the Second Regiment on 1 Au-
gust 1779 under Capt. Thomas Moultrie. Saf-
fell, p. 293; N.A.853.

Groomes, Gilbert

He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 19 Sep-
tember 1777 as a drummer. In 1779, he was
under Capt. Field Farrar. S.C.H.&G.,V, 154;
N.A.246; N.A.853.

Gross, James
He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775. Yearbook, 1885.

Grotte, Francis

He served five hundred six days in the Charles-
ton Battalion of Artillery during 1780 and
1781. V523.

Grouter, Jesse
See Jesse Growter.

Grover, James

He enlisted in the Second Regiment on 4 No-
vember 1775 and was a sergeant on 30 June
1778. He was a private again on 28 July 1778
and he was under Capt. Thomas Moultrie
during 1779. Saffell, p. 292; N.A.246;
N.A.853.

Groves, Edmund
He served in the militia under Col. Brandon
after the fall of Charleston. A.A.3166; X2845.

Groves, William
He enlisted in the Fifth Regiment on 29 April
1776. N.A.853.

Growter, David
He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 24 July
1776. N.A.853.

Growter, Jesse
He enlisted in the Third Regiment on 20 Au-
gust 1776 as a corporal. N.A.246; N.A.853.

Grubbs, Enoch d

He served in the militia under Capts. Anderson,
Thomas and Liles during 1781 and was in the
battle at Four Holes. He provided oats for the
cavalry under Col. Washington. (O’Briant,
Jesse, W1637); A.A.3168; N28; YI1211.

Grubbs, James

He enlisted in the Second Regiment on 19
October 1778 under Capt. Thomas Moultrie.
Saffell, p. 292; N.A.246; N.A.853.

Gruber, Charles

He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775 and was 2 corporal during
the siege of Savannah. Yearbook, 1885.

Gruber, Christian

He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775 and was a corporal during
the siege of Savannah, where he was killed.
S.C.H.&G., XVII, 155; Yearbook, 1885.

Gruber, John

He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775 and was at the siege of Sa-
vannah. Yearbook, 1885.

Gruber, Philip $21778
b. 30 March 1757

He enlisted in the First Regiment on 4 No-
vember 1775 under Captain Roger Sanders.
Next, he was under Capt. Thomas Pinckney,
Lt. Col. Isaac Huger and Col. Gadsden during
1776. He became a coxporal on 1 August
1778 and became a sergeant on 20 October
1778. He was in the battle at Stono and acted
as a pilot for Count Pulaski. In 1780, he was
under Capt. Simeon Theus. After being taken
prisoner at the fall of Charleston, he later
joined Marion. S.C.H.&G., 1, 54; Salley, Doc.,
p. 35; A.A.3166A; F12; N.A.246; N.A.853.

Gruber, Samuel

He served in the German Fusiliers of Charles-
ton during 1775 and was also an express rider
for the Council of Safety. During 1778, he
was in the Charleston Militia Regiment under
Capt. James Bentham. He was at the fall of
Charleston.  Yearbook, 1885; Council of
Safety, 13 January 1776; S.C.H.&G., LI,
14; A.A3167; A4; Yearbook, 1897.

Guerard, Benjamin

He served in the Charleston Militia Regiment
under Capt. James Bentham during 1778 and
was in the South Carolina Line during 1782

:;I;d 1783. A.A.3169; F18; S.C.H.&G., LIII,

Guerardeau, Peter B.

He served as a lieutenant in the Cheraw Com-
pany of the Colleton County Regiment of
Foot under Col. Glover. S.C.H.&G., II, 6.

Guerin, James
He served in the militia during 1782. G205.

Guerin, Peter
He served in the militia during 1782. G205.

Guerin, Thomas
He enlisted on 15 March 1777 and served in
the Third Regiment. N.A.853.

Guerry, Samuel

d. 12 July 1779

He served as a lieutenant in the Second Regi-
ment. S.C.H.&G., X, 228; Yearbook, 1893.

Guerry, Stephen
He served as a captain in the Fifth Regiment.
He resigned in August 1779. Yearbook, 1893.

Guess, Benjamin
_He enlisted on 4 November 1775 and served
in the Second Regiment. N.A.853.

Guess, Henry i W7609
d. 18 April 1818
m. Sophia ____

He served three years in the militia under Col.
LeRoy Hammond and was in the siege of Au-
gusta and the battle at Cowpens. A.A3173;
U625.

Guest, Thomas

He enlisted in the First Regiment on 10 No-
vember 1779 under Capt. Joseph Elliott. Sal-
ley, Doc., p. 22; N.A.246; N.A.853.

Guest, William
b. ¢ 1751

d.  8July 1841
m. Anna

He eqtercd the service during 1779 and was a
captain under John Barton. He was in the
battle at Kings Mountain. After the war, he
was a spy among the Indians. A.A.3173A.

Guilder, Gilbert
He served in the militia under Col. Waters be-

fore and after the fall of Charleston. A.A.
2814; X2524.

Guilder, Jacob

m. Frances

He served in the militia befor

fall of Charleston. A.A.2815; 8642‘:‘7d after the

South Carolina Roster 393

Guilder, Reuben
He served as a spy and was captured. AA.
2815A; B256.

Guilland, James
He served in the True Blue Company of the
Charleston Regiment of Militia from 10 Feb-

ruary 1780 to 14 July 1781 A.A3176;
Y1221.

Guilledeau, Andrew

He served as a sergeant on foot and a private

(])3“ ho}:slelback in the militia under Capt. Joseph
ouchillon from August 1779 to May 1782

AABLIT 0660, R

Guinn, Thomas
See Thomas C. Holmes.

Guion, John

He was appointed as a sergeant on'6 October
1781 in the Second Regiment under Captain
William Withers and Col. Peter Horry. At one
time, he was under Capt. Gough. S.C.H.&G.
XXXV, 49, 51. ’

Guiselhart, John
He served in the militia under Coli Waters be-

fore and after the fall of Charleston. A.A.3179;
X2525. '

Guiton, Aaron
See Aaron Guyton.

Guitton, Richard
He served in the militia after the fall of
Charleston. A.A.3180; S484.

Gulfus, Gustavas
He served in the Saltcatcher Volunteer Com-

pany under Capt. James Jones during 1775.
S.C.H.&G., 11, 20.

Gullage, Henry

He enlisted on 17 September 1778 and served
in the Second Regiment. He deserted on 24
February 1779. N.A.853.

Gullihan, William

He enlisted in the Fifth Regiment on 2 De-
cember 1776. N.A.853.

Gunnell, William w1172
BLWt 11184-160-55

d. 24 July 1844

m. ¢ 1.

2'. Martha Adkins, 22/25 March 1821
He enlisted during March 1778 under Capt.
Hughe:s and Col. White and was in the battles
of Guilford Courthouse, Eutaw Springs, Cane-
brake and White Bluff. (Moved to Ga.)




had three children: Daniel Wade Hopkins
Glenn, David George W.H. Glenn, and Mary
T.W. Glenn.

Alexander Glenn (1765-1826), eighth and
youngest child of Nathan and Lucy (Coleman)
Glenn, married Anna Sims, and lived first in
Union County where he was a partner in busi-
ness with his brother Bernard — in the Union
County deed books they are called ““Mer-
chants.” In 1825 Alexander sold 450 acres
near the Fish Dam on Broad River to his
brother Spilsby, land described as “‘given to
me by my father.”” He seems to have moved to
Laurens County, South Carolina, about that
time, and his will was probated in Laurens
County on June 5, 1826. His daughter Nancy
was his sole heir, and in the event of her death
to “either of her children.”

Alezander Glenn and his wife Anna are
buried in a family cemetery 5 miles south of
Clinton, South Carolina. Their daughter Nan-
¢y, born in 1806, married Dr. Hezekiah Rice
who was the son of Hezekiah and Mary Saun-
ders Rice who were born in Virginia and died in
Union County. In 1808, in Laurens County,
South Carolina, Reuben Glenn named Alexan-
der Glenn as the sole executor of his will in
which he willed his entire estate to his wife
Elizabeth, who probably was the daughter of
Bird and Orano (Glenn) Bowker of Union
County. Reuben may have been the son of
Alexander Glenn.

— Jeannette M. Christopher

THE FAMILY OF WILLIAM
COLEMAN GLENN

William Coleman Glenn (1761-1827), son
of Nathan and Lucy (Coleman) Glenn, married
on July 13, 1788 in Cumberland County, Vir-
ginia, Elizabeth Wright (1769-1854). (See
The Family of Nathan Glenn.) William C. and
Elizabeth Glenn lived on Tyger River, between
Fishdam (Carlisle) and Whitmire. Both died in
Union County and their wills are on file in the
Union County office of the Probate Judge.
They had nine children:

Lucy Glenn (1789-1845), first child, mar-
ried first her cousin Achilles Bowker, son of
Bird and Orano (Glenn) Bowker. Lucy and
Achilles Bowker had one child, Elizabeth
W.G.0. Bowker (1813-1831) who was unmar-
ried. Achilles Bowker died before 1816, and
Lucy (Glenn) Bowker married second James
Ivey. There were no children by the second
marriage. Lucy and her daughter Elizabeth are
Folth buried in the Glenn Cemetery near Car-
isle.

Elizabeth Glenn (1791-died before October
25, 1849), second child, married her cousin
Nathan Coleman (1786-1858), son of Joseph
and Sytha (Glenn) Coleman. (See the article on
Joseph Coleman.)

Patsy Glenn (1793-1866), third child, mar-
ried her cousin John Bowles Glenn (1793-
1842), the son of Robert and Sarah (Bowles)
Glenn of Union County, and grandson of
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miles of the Union County line. They operated

" a large hotel near the spring which became

well-known resort of that period. Both are
buried in Fishdam Cemetery near Carlisle.
They had only one son, William James
Thompson Glenn (died 1883), who married
M. Beaty, and who was an officer in the Con-
federate army.

Nathan Glenn (1796-1882), fourth child,
married on May 1, 1828, his cousin Permelia
Coleman (1802-1884), the daughter of Joseph
and Sytha (Glenn) Coleman. (See the article on
Joseph Coleman.) Both Nathan and Permelia
Glenn are buried in the Briggs Cemetery in
Union County. They had five children, and
their descendants now live in the Cross Anchor
area of Spartanburg and Union Counties.

William Wright Glenn (1799-1873), fifth
child, married in 1837 Sarah Leverett (1806-
1872) of Union County. They lived on Tyger
River near William Coleman Glenn. William
Wright and Sarah Glenn had one son, William
Leverett Glenn, who moved to Hernando, Mis-
sissippi.

Mary Ann Glenn (1801-1873), sixth child,
married first James Mayes of the Fairforest
area of Union County. They lived on Enoree
River and had eight children, several of whom
settled in Newberry County. After James
Mayes' death Mary Ann (Glenn) Mayes mar-
ried second Jesse Briggs (1801-1882) of
Union County and had five more children.
Mary Ann and Jesse Briggs are buried in the
Briggs Cemetery. ,

Sarah Clark Glenn (born 1804), seventh
child, married Augustine (Austin) Shands of
Spartanburg County and lived near Glenn
Springs where her sister Patsy lived. Sarah
Clark (Glenn) and Augustine Shands moved to
White Springs and/or Bronson, Florida, where
some of their descendants still reside.

Thomas Alexander Glenn (1806-1882),
eighth child, was a graduate of Jefferson
Medical College in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania,
and was also an active Methodist minister
while he lived in Union County. The old Enoree
Circuit Minute Book, now located in the
Methodist Archives, Wofford College Library,
Spartanburg, S.C., shows that T.A. Glenn
served as secretary of the quarterly confer-
ences for several years. After he moved to
Winston County, Mississippi, in 1853, he
joined the Lutheran Church and served in the
ministery of that denomination. He married
first, in Union County, Regina Wiles Farr, the
daughter of James Farr and his wife Frances,
and the granddaughter of Col. William Farr and
his first wife Eleanor (Black) Jeter. Thomas
Alexander and Regina (Farr) Glenn had twelve
children all of whom moved to Mississippi
with their parnets. T.A. Glenn married second
Mary Frances (Mollie) Johnson (1840-1912)
who was the daughter of John Wesley and
Elizabeth (Matthews) Johnson of Winston
County, Mississippi. T.A. and Mollie (John-
son) Glenn had eight children. Many descen-
dants of Thomas Alexander Glenn reside in
Mississippi and elsewhere in the western

(Glehn) Glenn. They héd seven children, all of
whom moved to Singleton, Mississippi with
their parents.

— Jeannette M. Christopher

GOING — PALMER FAMILY
238

Thomas Palmer, born in England in 1590,
emigrated to America in 1621 on a ship named
Tyger and settled in Northumberiand County,
Virginia. John Palmer, assumed to be his son
was born in Northumberland County, Virginia,
in 1621.

Robert Palmer, believed to be the son of
John, but there is no proof, was bom in Vir-
ginia. He was married first to Prudence
Jeffery and second to Martha Freeman.

William Palmer, born February 18, 1727, in
N. Fornham Parish, Richmond County, Vir-
ginia, is believed to be the son of Robert Pal-
mer and his second wife, Martha Freeman.
William married Rebecca and they were the
parents of John Palmer, the ancestor of this
family, who was born September 6, 1753.

By 1773 John Palmer had migrated from
Virginia to Union County, South Carolina, and
married Martha (Patty) Williams. John fought
in the Revolution and died June 26, 1826.
Martha was born April 17, 1754, and died
August 29, 1813.

Their children were: Amasa Palmer, born
July 22, 1774, married first Hannah Waters
and second Anna Gaston; Ezekiel Palmer, born
November 9, 1778; William Paimer, born July
16, 1776, married Elizabeth Morgan; John
Palmer, born February 13, 1780; Nancy Pal-
mer, married William Edwards, son of Solo-
mon Edwards, and moved west; Sallie Palmer,
born October 15, 1786, died October 15,
1786; Rebecca Palmer, born February 1,
1789, died August 1, 1855, married Isaac
Going; Ellis Palmer, born March 22, 1792,
died February 4, 1865, married Nancy Long;
and Rhoda Palmer, born April 7, 1796, died
October 25, 1882, married Joseph McKissick.

On August 21, 1804, Isaac Going, born
April 28, 1775, in Chester, S.C., married Re-
becca Palmer. Isaac Going died in Union
County January 27, 1861, and Rebecca died
August 1, 1855. Their children were: Thomas
Baster Going, born May 13, 1806, married
Elizabeth Vinson; Sarah Palmer Going, born
July 13, 1808; John Madison Going, born July
14, 1810, died July 25, 1844; Elijah Bobo
Going, born January 15, 1813, died February
15, 1827; Drury Dobbins Going, born Novem-
ber 24, 1815, died September 1878, married
Sarah Spears; Isaac McKissick Going, born
September 2, 1818 (Mack), died August 10,
1840; Rhoda Going, born August 24, 1821;
William George Washington Going (Billy),
born July 17, 1824, died October 7, 1915,
married Nancy Manerva Dupree; Amasa Ver-
non Going, born January 30, 1827; Elisha
Palmer Going, born December 22, 1829, died
iuly{ 81 365 1864; Martha Karen Going, born July
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William George Washington Going (Billy),
bornJuly 17, 1824, died October 7, 1915, was
married on September 16, 1847, to Nancy
Manerva Jane Dupree who was born June 3,
1827, and died in 1903. They lived in the Pea
Ridge section of Union County, South Caroli-
na, all of their married life. He was a farmer
and shop keeper. On March 10, 1863, he
enlisted in the Confederate Army of Northern
Virginia as a Private in Company C, 11th Reg-
iment, South Carolina Calvalry, CAF, at Camp
Jeter in Virginia. Colonel A.C. Haskell was his
commanding officer. He was paroled (dis-
charged) April 10, 1865.

The children of Billy Going were: Everlena
(Evie) Going, born October 25, 1848, never
married; William Mack Going, born February
7, 1850, married Trubey Cole and lived in
Georgia; John Thomas Richard Going, born
August 16, 1851, died September 2, 1948,
married Iriozie Cole, lived in Pea Ridge section
of Union County; Elijah Vernon Going (Jock),
born March 25, 1853, died July 7, 1922, mar-
ried Margaret Farr; Julia Frances Going, born
December 26, 1854, died March 3, 1855; But-
ler Brooks Going, born February 25, 1856,
died September 9, 1931, married Sarah Farr
Smith, October 4, 1878; David Anderson
Going (Bud), born May 10, 1858, married
Josephine Julian Stewart; James Daniel L.
Going, born May 5, 1860, married Emma Bla-
lock; George Washington Going (Washie),
born May 16, 1862, died August 2, 1934,
married Jane Vaughn; Robert Lee Going, born
December 26, 1864; Joseph Gary Going (Doc-
tor), born April 10, 1866, died April 26, 1950,
married Ophelia Jeter; Rhoda Cornelia Going,
born September 12, 1868, married William
Vaughn; Oliver Frances Going, born June 16,
1870, married Ellen McPherson, lived in
Greenville, S.C.

Butler Brooks Going was born February 25,
1856, and died September 9, 1931. He mar-
ried Sarah Ethel Farr Smith, a widow with one
child, Buddy Smith, on October 4, 1878. They
lived on the plantation known as the ““Smith
Place”. He was a farmer and owned extensive
farm acreage; he also owned many rental
houses in Union and Union County. There was
only one child born to this union, Minnie Ethel
Going, who was born February 5, 1881 and
died May 7, 1949. She and her father are
buried at Rosemont Cemetery in Union; her
mother is buried at Mt. Joy Baptist Church,
Kelton, Union County, S.C. She attended
Union County Graded School and Clifford
Seminary in Union. Also, she attended Ashe-
ville Academy for young ladies in Asheville,
North Carolina.

— Ethel Weber Walling
and
Estelle Weber Dunbar

THE FAMILIES OF GOING AND
PALMER
239

Thomas Palmer was born in England in
1590. He arrived in America in 1621 on the
ship named TYGER and settled in North-
umberland County, Virginia. His son, John
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Palmer, was born 1621 in Northumberland
County Virginia. John Palmer had a son,
Robert Palmer, born in Virginia, married, 1st,
Prudence Jeffery; 2nd time, Martha Freeman.

Robert Palmer’s son, William Palmer was
born Feb. 18, 1727, in North Fornham Parish,
Richmond County, Virginia. He married Re-
becca, surname unknown.

William Palmer had a son, John Palmer,
born September 6, 1753, who married Martha
(Patty) Williams (born April 17, 1754 and died
August 29, 1813) in 1773. They had the fol-
lowing children: Amasa (b. July 22, 1774),
married 1st Hannah Waters, 2nd, Anna
Gaston; Ezekiel (b. November 9, 1778); Wil-
liam (b. July 16, 1776), married Elizabeth
Morgan; John Palmer (b. February 13, 1780);
Nancy, married a Edwards (?); Sallie (b. Octo-
ber 15, 1786, died same day; Rebecca (b.
February 1, 1789, died August 1, 1855) mar-
ried Isaac Going; Ellis (b. March 22, 1792,
died February 4, 1865) married Nancy Long;
Rhoda (b. April 7, 1796, died October 25,
1882) married Joseph McKissick.

Isaac Going (b. April 28, 1775, died Janu-
ary 27, 1861) married Rebecca Palmer,
daughter of John and Martha Palmer, on Au-
gust 21, 1804. They were the parents of the
following children: Thomas Baxter Going (b.
May 13, 1806), married Elizabeth Vinson;
Sarah Palmer (b. July 13, 1808); John Madi-
son Going (b. July 14, 1810, died July 25,
1844); Elijah Bobo (b. January 15, 1813, died
February 15, 1827); Drudy Dobbins (b.
November 24, 1815) maried Sarah Spears;
Isaac McKissick (b. September 2, 1818, died
August 10, 1840) called Mack; Rhoda (b. Au-
gust 24, 1821); William George Washington
(Billy) (b. July 17, 1824, died October 7,
1915), married Nancy Manerva Dupree (b.
June 3, 1827, died 1903); Amasa Vernon (b.
January 30, 1827); Elisha Plamer (b. Decem-
ber 22, 1829, died July 16, 1864); Martha
Karen (b. July 4, 1835).

William G.W. Going and his wife, Nancy
M.J. Dupree Going, were married September
16, 1847. They lived all of their married life in
the Pea Ridge section of Union County. He was
a farmer and shop keeper. On March 10,
1863, he enlisted in the Confederate Army of
Northern Virginia as a Private, Co. C, 11th
Reg., South Carolina Cavalry, CAF, at Camp
Jeter in Virginia. Colonel A.C. Haskell was his
commanding officer. He was paroled (dis-
charged) April 10, 1865.

William G.W. Going and Nancy Going had the
following children: Everlena (Aunt Evie, b.
October 25, 1848), never married; William
Mack Going (b. February 7, 1850) married
Trubey Cole and lived in Georgia; John
Thomas Richard (b. August 16, 1851, died
September 2, 1948), married Iriozie Cole and
lived in Pea Ridge section of Union County;
Elijah Vernon, called Jock, (b. March 25,
1853, died July 7, 1922), married Margaret
Farr; Julia Frances (b. December 26, 1854,
died March 3, 1855); Butler Brooks (b. Febru-
ary 25, 1856, died September 9, 1931), mar-
ried Sarah Farr Smith on October 4, 1878;

David Anderson, called Bud, (b. May 10,
1858) married Josephine Julian Stewart;
James Daniel L. (b. May 5, 1860), married

Emmia Blalock; George Washington, calle
Washie (b. May 16, 1862, died August :
1934) married 1st, Jane Vaughn and 2n
Annie Jeter Smith; Robert Lee (b. Decembt
26, 1864); Joseph Gary, a medical doctor, (t
April 10, 1866, died April 26, 1950), marrie
Ophelia Jeter; Rhoda Cornelia, (b. Septembe
12, 1868) married William Vaughn; Olive
Francis (b. June 16, 1870) married Elle
McPherson. He and his wife lived in Greer
ville, South Carolina.

Butler Brooks Going, born February 2¢
1856, and died September 9, 1931, marrie
Sarah Ehtel Farr Smith (a widow with on
child, Buddy Smith) on October 4, 1878. The
lived on the plantation known as the ‘“‘Smit
Place”. He was a farmer and owned extensiv
farm acreage, also many rental houses il
Union and Union County.

There was only one child born to this union
Minnie Ethel Going. She was born February 5
1881, and died May 7, 1949. She attended thi
Union Schools and Clifford Seminary in Union
Later, she attended Asheville Academy foi
Young Ladies in Asheville, North Carolina. She
and her father are buried in Rosemont Ceme-
tery, Union, and her mother is buried at Mt
Joy Baptist Church, Kelton, Union County.

— Ethel Weber Walling
and
Estelle Weber Dunbar

THE DRURY GOING FAMILY
240

From a letter written by Thomas B. Going in
1879 from Walnut Grove, Etowah County, Ala-
bama, to his brother, copies of which are stil
extant, and from DAR records, the following
family history has been developed. Thomas B.
Going was a son of Isaac and Rebecca Palmer
Going.

Drury Going (Goins, Goyne) was born in
1749 in Virginia and died on a wagon drive
from Charleston, S.C. to Union, S.C. on

Ara Atlas Haynes, daughter of Mariah Sims Dabbs and
Coleman Haynes.




yruary 22, 1796. He was buried in Union
unty, S.C. In 1767 he married Sarah (Sally)
xter who was born in 1751 in Orange Coun-
North Carolina. The Going family, of Irish
scent, had arrived in Virginia and the Caroli-
s about 1635. By early 1800’s they were
siding in Union County, S.C.
Isaac Going, son of Drury and Sally, was
rn April 28, 1775 at Chester, S.C., and died
Union District January 27, 1861. On August
, 1804, he married Rebecca Palmer, daugh-
“of John Palmer and Martha (Patty) Wil-
ms. (See Going-Palmer Family.) Rebecca
s born February 1, 1789, in South Carolina
d died August 1, 1855, at Union, S.C. Isaac
ing was baptized during the May mesting at
colet Church (Skull Shoals) in 1803, and
ned the Masonic Fraternity the same year.
About 1866 three neighbors in Union Dis-
ct, S.C., decided to go west to seek more
tile land. They were Thomas Baxter Going,
n of Isaac Going, William M. Dabbs, and
m Inman. Thomas Baxter Going, born
ay13 1806, in Union County, S.C., married
) February 20, 1825 his childhood
veetheart, Elizabeth Vinson, who was born at
icolet, S.C. February 14, 1804, and died in
}66 near Kelton.
The. men prepared a wagon train for their
urney from Pacolet to Huntsville, Alabama.
hen they reached Walnut Grove, Alabama,
ey were forced to stop because a snow
orm was in progress. They never reached
untsville. They thought Walnut Grove was
¢ Garden of Eden.

Ara Atlas Haynes Joiner, wife of Reverend Charles William
Joiner.

Being well educated, Thomas Baxter Going
organized a private school and taught the chil-
dren from the Blue Back Speller. He bought
land and farmed, but he never recovered in all
his ninety years from the death of his beloved
Beth who had died at Skull Shoals just before
their departure. Thomas Baxter Going died at
Walnut Grove, Alabama, May 9, 1896, and
was buried at Harmony Cemetery near Snead,
Boaz, and Altoona, Alabama.

Thomas Baxter Going’s daughter, Lucinda
Christiana Going, who was born January 28,
1836 in Union, S.C. and died at Marietta,

Georgia in 1915, married on February 28,
1856, William Dabbs (McDabbs) who was
born August 29, 1827, at Union, S.C., and
died at Kelton, S.C., in 1908.

Their daughter, Mariah (Mary) Sims Dabbs
was born April 12, 1857, at Pacolet, S.C., died
at Walnut Grove, Alabama, December 24,
1890. On January 1, 1874 she married Cole-
man Haynes who was born February 29, 1851,
at Flat Creek, Georgia, and died at Walnut
Grove, Alabama, January 14, 1913.

Their daughter, Ara Atlas Haynes, who was
born February 23, 1883, at Walnut Grove,
Alabama, and died at Cullman, Alabama, on
June 29, 1956, married on November 11,
1900, Reverend Charles William Joiner who
was born August 15, 1879, at Oxford, Ala-
bama, and died at Cullman,, Alabama, on
January 30, 1951.

Essie Clarice Joiner, daughter of Reverend
Charles William Joiner and Ara Atlas Haynes,
married Cliff Oswalt and now resides at Tus-
kegee, Alabama.

Other known descendants of Thomas Bax-
ter Going who are still living are: E.B. Joiner,
P.0. Box 324, Paim Springs, California
92262; Mrs. Cliff Oswalt, P.0. Box 28, Tus-
kegee, Alabama 36083; E.F. Joiner, Holly-
wood, Florida 33020; Mrs. Otmar C. Miller,
463 Mobile (South), Fairhope, Alabama
36532; Ervin Joiner, Clanton, Alabama 35035;
and Ulas Haynes, Boaz, Alabama 35957.

— Essie Clarice Joiner Oswalt

JOHN THOMAS GOING
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John Thomas Going (Aug. 16, 1851 —
Sept. 2, 1948) was the son of William George
Washington Going (July 17, 1824 — Oct. 7,
1915) and Nancy M. Dupree Going (June 3,
1827 — Nov. 13, 1903).
John Thomas and his brother Mack,
traveled to Georgia and married. John Thomas
married Izora Leuotia Cole (Jan. 28, 1858 —

Aug. 26, 1937), daughter of John Cole and
Elizabeth Whitlock Cole, who at one time
owned a large parcel of land in the Kelton area
but sold out and moved to Georgia.

After their marriage, Mack stayed in Georgia
but John Thomas and ‘‘Boshie’, his wife
moved back to South Carolina to the Sardis
community. Three of their children were born
in this home. Then they moved to the Kelton
area, into the Baxter Going house, a log house
that still stands as a hay barn on my father’s
farm near Pinckneyville.

Their children are: Emma 0’Della Adams
(Sept. 20, 1876 — Mar. 13, 1930), Rev.
James Thomas ““Tom’' Going (July 12, 1878
— June 21, 1957), William Dilmus (Aug. 11,
1882 — Feb. 27, 1907) Nannie Sanders (Oct.
24,1884 — Jan. 18, 1973), Bessie Bell San-
ders (Mar. 2, 1885 — Mar. 27, 1963), Lela
Cudd (Aug. 30, 1887 — Dec. 5, 1959), Carrie
Levister (Aug. 28, 1889 — Feb. 9, 1975),
Bertha Trammell (Jan. 25, 1892 — Sept. 8,
1977), and Ruth Farr (June 20, 1898 — ).

Nannie and Bell, my grandmother, married
brothers Sumpter and James Franklin San-
ders.

— Jacquelyn Sanders Petty

WILLIAM GEORGE
WASHINGTON GOING
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William George Washington Going (July 17,
1824 — Oct. 7, 1915) was the son of Isaac
Going (April 28, 1775 — June 22, 1861) and
Rebecca Palmer Going (Feb. 1, 1779 — Aug.
1, 1865) who are buried in the Going Ceme-
tery, located about three miles east of Mt.
Joy Baptist Church. Isaac’s father was Elijah
Going.

Grandpa Billy, as he was known, married
Nancy M. Dupree (June 3, 1827 — Nov. 13,
1903). They were the parents of ten children:
Mack, John Thomas, my great grandfather,

John Thomas and Izona Leuotia Cole Going (seated) and seven of their children, L to R: Ruth, Bertha, Carrie, Tom, Lela,
Bell, and Nannie.
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James D. (Jim), George Washington
(Washie), Elijah (Jock), David (Bud), Gary,
Oliver, Rhodie, and Evelena (Evie).

Atone time, Billy was Post Master of the Mt.
Joy Post Office. He and Nancy are buried at
Mt. Joy Baptist Church Cemetery.

| was told by their granddaughter, my great-
aunt, Mrs. Ruth Going Farr, that her Uncle,
Doctor Gary Going, made a trip to Washington
in search of information about our family. He
found that the first Going to come to America
came aboard the Mayflower in 1620.

— Jacquelyn Sanders Petty

WILLIAM AND ELIZABETH
ROUNTREE GOLDSMITH AND
FAMILY

243

On September 5, 1789, John McCooll and
Jane his wife sold to William Goldsmith, both
of Union County, for 13 guineas, two lots of
one-half acre each, ““now in his actual posses-
sion,” adjoining land ‘“Whereon the Court
House and Gaol now stand.” Witnesses: John
and Henry Birdsong, and John Murrell (Deed
Bk. B, pp. 236-37).

John Murrell is thought to have been a son
of Drury Murrell and a first cousin of Elizabeth,
wife of William Goldsmith.

Elizabeth was one of the older daughters of
Richardson Rountree’s first marriage. Born
about 1766, probably in Goochland Co., Va.,
before her parents moved to South Carolina,
she reportedly married “‘her cousin,”” William
Goldsmith. This marriage probably occurred
about 1783, and is said to have taken place at
her father’s home in the Fairforest area.
Elizabeth reportedly died at about the age of
80, and William at age 79. In the 1790’s they
moved from Union to Greenville District and
lived there for the remainder of their lives.

Shortly after 1900, William Thomas Gold-
smith of Fulton Co., Ga., a grandson of this
couple--in response to a published inquiry--
wrote a very interesting record concerning
William and Elizabeth and some of their chil-
dren. Goldsmith descendants will find this re-
port of particular interest. William’s father is
said to be the Rev. Richard Goldsmith, a
Presbyterian minister living at Richmond,
Va., during the Revolutionary War.

At the age of seventeen William is reported
to have enlisted in the army, and his company
and regiment assigned to the command of
Gen. Horatio Gates. This regiment was one of
the units which unfortunately experienced
military defeat, by the forces of Lord Cornwal-
lis, at Camden, S.C. on Aug. 16, 1780. Wil-
liam, at that time, was simultaneously a victim
of malarial fever, but this may have helped to
save his life. His grandson, writing many years
later, gives a graphic account of his grand-
father’s hazardous escape from the battle area
around Camden, and his slow but eventual
recovery from his illness.

While in the Union County area (then in
Ninety-Six District), William reportedly visited
his Rountree cousins in the vicinity of Fair-
forest, and to have returned, still later, from
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Richmond, Va., and married Elizabeth Roun-
tree.

This couple was listed in the 1790 Union
County census, and apparently had two sons
and two daughters at that time. Judging from
the purchase of lots late in 1789, from Capt.
John McCooll, they must then have lived in
Union Village.

At the time of the 1800 Greenville County
census they apparently had four sons and
three daughters. By 1810, there appear to be
nine children, four sons and five daughters.
The family evidently lived in the vicinity of
Durbin’s Creek, on the Enoree River.

The estate of William Goldsmith, Senr., was
entered for administration in Greenville Dis-
trict about March, 1834 (Apt. 3, File 198,
Probate Judge’s Office). The heirs are shown
to have been his widow, Elizabeth; Sons Thom-
as, William, Jr., and Turner; Elizabeth, Mil-
ley, Massey, Turner, and Mariah, children of
son John, deceased; daughters Lucy, wife of
William Daugherty, Sally, wife of William B.
Willingham, Milley, wife of Josiah Greer; and
the children of daughter, Polly Howard, de-
ceased: Lemuel, James, Lewis, Nancy, Polly,
Elijah, Fatima, and Benjamin F. Howard.

Son John, who predeceased his father, is
said to have moved to the State of North Caro-
lina and reared a family. Judging from the
Greenville District census listings, this must
have been after 1820.

Son William, Jr., who married Lucy ? ,
is said to have moved to Dekalb Co., Ga., and
to have died there in 1854. He presumably was
the William Goldsmith, Jr. listed as heading
households in Greenville District in 1820 (p.
97) — then evidently not long married — and
again in 1830 (p. 300).

Grandson William Thomas Goldsmith pro-
vides a good record for the family of his par-
ents, Turner and Maria Louisa (Stokes) Gold-
smith. He says that his father ““died in Atlanta,
Ga., in 1892, aged eighty-nine years.” His
account does not, however, indicate that the
family lived for a time in Edgefield District,
S.C., which appears to have been the case. In
the 1840 Edgefield census, the family of one
Turner Goldsmith, aged 30-40, is listed twice
(pp. 54, 80), with identical family data re-
corded. In one listing they are shown as resi-
dents in the Town of Harrisburg.

About 20 years earlier--in May and August,
1820--Turner’s father had received, in Edge-
field District, the legacy due his wife,
Elizabeth, from the Rountree estate. And, a
year before that — on May 18-19, 1819 —
Turner’s older brother, Thomas, had pur-
chased “1 bed & furniture” at the Edgefield sales
of his late grandfather's estate. Thomas, who
married Sally Cook, was a long-time resident
of Greenville County. He died there on April
28, 1868, at the age of 80 (Greenville, S.C.,
cemetery records, and Deed Bk. CC, p. 62).

William Goldsmith, Sr., evidently did not
file for a pension on the basis of his revolution-
ary service. His name does appear on the
Ancestral Roll, South Carolina Chapter,
D.A.R. (compiled 1938, by Mrs. E.T. Craw-
ford, State Registrar).

— Arthur M. Reagan

THE GOLIGHTLY FAMILY
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Five Golightly brothers, sons of Christoph
and Frances Shands Golightly, came fro
Susex Sounty, Virginia, to the old 96 Distri
of South Carolina, sometime before tt
Revolutionary War. They were: Willian
Shands, David, Thomas, and John. All serve
in Roebuck’s Regiment during the war.

William’s wife was his first cousin, Am(
Shands, fourth child of William and Prissil
Moss Shands. William was born May 5, 17¢
and died of Small Pox on January 23, 178;
during the Revolutionary War.

Amey (born September 20, 1747) was le
with five small children, the oldest eleve
years old. She evidently not only managed tt
property she was left, but added to her lar
because when she died on January 1, 181
she willed to son David, ““All lands that hay
been granted to me since | became a widow'
Amey and several members of her family wei
members of Cedar Spring Church.

William and Amey’s children were: Chris
opher, William Shands, Clarymond, David an
Mary.

Christopher Golightly was born Decemb
1, 1771. He married Jane Harrison, daughtt
of Major Richard Harrison and Ann Patillo, an
a granddaughter of Henry Patillo, the note
Presbyterian minister and teacher. Chris
opher Golightly was a teacher and surveyol
He sent all his sons “to the Latin”, in othe
words, he gave them a classical educatior
Their children were: Claremont, who marrie
William Bullington; David, a lawyer, who die
at age 30 in Columbus, Georgia; Christophe
Columbus, who married Elizabeth and wa
killed at age 20; Hugh and Thomas, who bot
left the state in 1835 and were not remerr
bered in Christopher’s will; William, who mai
ried Parthenia Vaughn and had childrer
Christopher, born 1862, Thirzam, Lanford
Jane, married Mr. Burns, Parthenia who mai
ried Mr. Watson, Olivia who married J. Cop
land and J. Calvin.

William Shands Golightly was born Januar
4, 1774 and married Martha L. Their seve
children were: Harriett who married Williar
Underwood; Clarrissa who married Eliza
Barnett; Elvira Smith who married her firs
cousin, William Edward McDaniel; Amand
Serena who married William Taylor Shook
Artemissa who married Elias Lipscomb ani
William Franklin.

Clarymond Golightly was born January 6
1776 and married William Lancaster. He was.
Justice of the Peace and an active Deacon o
Cedar Spring Chruch, being sent many time:
as a messenger to associational meetings, an(
assisted other churches with ordination ser
vices.

David Golightly, called “Jr.” to distinguisl
him from William’s brother, David, was bori
November 29, 1778. On September 6, 1804
he married Nancy Ogburne. He too, was ai
active Deacon of Cedar Spring Church. Thi
oldest of their sixteen children was Thurza
who was born October 30, 1805 and marrie(
Benjamin Franklin White, son of Robert an(
Mildred Whitehead White of Union County
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In spite of considerable illness in the population, H.H. West’s
drugstore went bankrupt in August 1851. When the sheriff inven-
toried the remaining goods on the shelves prior to auctioning them
off, he found “shoe thread, adhesive plaster [for blistering the skin,
a medical treatment of the time], male and female syringes, fine
shaving soap, cupping glasses and nipple glasses.” The last two items
were used to bleed patients, a common medical practice for centu-
ries but beginning to be abandoned by the mid-nineteenth century.®
Drug and other specialty stores had a difficult time in those days
competing with the large general stores which dominated the town’s
mercantile trade. The Keenan and Norris store has already been
mentioned, and directly across the street from that establishment
was the huge emporium of John L. Young (on the northeast corner
of Main and Pinckney, the later site of Cohen’s). The building had a
long piazza which served as a shady loafing place in summertime.

Young, as noted earlier in this chapter, was branching out into

railroading in the mid-1850s, having already amassed considerable
wealth from his business. Young’s store had a drug department and
a section devoted to books and stationery. There was a consider-
able line of ready-made clothes, including cashmeres, tweeds, felts,
and kerseys—the last being a coarse cloth made of a blend of cotton
and wool and often used to clothe slaves. Of course Young’s carried
cloth by the yard, household items, and agricultural implements. To
top it off, the store contained by 1854 what was probably Union’s
first bank—the “Unionville Exchange and Bank Agency”—which
advertised that it offered “a safe medium for remitting money to
any part of the U.S., Mexico, Cuba, or Canada. It collects Bank and
Railroad Dividends, Drafts, Notes and Pensions. It discounts Cotton
Drafts and purchases Domestic Exchange. It offers a safe deposit for
money.”%

The fact that the different areas of Young’s emporium adver-
tised separately in the newspaper would seem to indicate that the
operation was an early department store rather than simply a large
“general” store.! It was practically a “Super-Walmart” a century and
a half before that store arrived. Other stores, however, must have
answered the general-store description, among them the Goss and
Culp Company, later probably the Hill and Goss store, reported
to have existed about mid-century at the intersection of Main and
Pinckney streets. Goss and Culp was probably on the southwest
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corner. An opera house was located on the second floor of the
building.®

Other stores of unknown location in the period 1851-52 included:
Julius Kaiser, signpainter; William Gafford, saddler; William Hunt,
a blind mattress-maker (using either cotton and moss or cotton and
corn shucks); John Joiner, hardware (selling small cotton gins for
on-plantation use); R. Gowing and H. Rogers, tanning and shoe-and
boot-making; J.L. Solomon, boots and shoes; John Flanagan, boots
and shoes; and John W. Goss, tobacconist. Charles Kaiser ran what
was apparently the town’s only antebellum jewelry store and made
enough money to build a substantial house on East Main Street.
Kaiser’s home was later bought by William H. Wallace, by whose
name the house was, for good reasons, still known in later centuries.®
(See Chapter XI.)

Itinerant daguerrotypists worked the county, with one putting
up at Dunn’s Hotel and another simultaneously spending a few days
at Cross Keys in April 1852. By 1858 an ambrotypist had passed
through, charging only one dollar per picture. The process involved
a negative printed on glass which showed up positive with a black
felt backing.5

The first store in Union which dealt solely in groceries was
Thomas McNally’s, founded about 1852. It was advertised as a
“family grocery” but was really more of a delicatessen, catering to
the wealthy, of whom there must have been quite a few to have
supported such an establishment. McNally offered by 1855 four
kinds of coffee (from Java, Venezuela, Cuba, and Brazil), ten kinds
of sugar, and two grades of rice. His wine shelf held Canary, Malaga,
Claret, Port, and several others, but his brandies and liquors were
at wholesale only. He handled various imported nuts, figs, and pie
fruits, not to mention fresh lobsters and fresh oysters. In 1855 the
nearest railroad connection was thirty miles away in Chester, but
nothing that McNally sold was produced in Union County and very
little in the state. McNally neglected to mention his prices, as his
customers were probably not overly concerned with how much
things cost, but down the street at Keenan and McLure’s general
store, teas from China were for sale in quarter, half, and pound pack-
ages for $.50, $1.00, and $1.50, the prices of pairs of shoes.5

Probably farther down East Main Street, beyond Gadberry
and near the railroad right-of-way were two small industries. One of
them, the Meng and Peek carriage-making shop, advertised in 1854
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endangered, and editorial campaigns were waged against the prac-
tice of “gun-toting.” In 1896 the City Council prohibited carrying
any concealed weapons, and in 1902 all small pistols were banned
from the streets. Only police were allowed to bear firearms of less
weight than three pounds or shorter than twenty-one inches in
length.”

Along with efforts to curb firearms went attempts to limit liquor,
perhaps even to outlaw it altogether. In 1893 Governor Benjamin
Ryan Tillman had thought to cut the Gordian knot of the tangled
liquor situation by a draconian law that prohibited private sale of
distilled spirits and enabled counties and municipalities to apply for
a state dispensary to be established in any particular jurisdiction.
Due to the language of the law, Union County was partially dry,
except for beer and wine, in the last half of 1893 before a state-run
liquor outlet could be set up in January of 1894 with James S. Welch
as dispenser. The dispensary was apparently located near the later
site of WBCU radio.”

South Carolinians of 1894 took their drinking seriously, and
the attempt to enforce the dispensary law in Darlington and Flor-
ence counties led to an armed rebellion, which happily subsided
before Governor Tillman’s National Guard units reached the scene.
Unionites reacted calmly, most topers happy to have legal liquor at
least available, while local temperance people hoped the dispensary
would serve as a curb on alcohol abuse.”

The latter were to be disappointed, for “blind tigers” (boot-
leggers) continued to operate, while the dispensary system, state-
wide, soon gave off an unmistakeable odor of corruption. Unionites
were partially reassured in 1896 when William A. Nicholson, a high-
ly-respected local business leader, was put on the State Dispensary
Board.”

Temperance people were also unhappy with the continued
independent operation of beer halls, and in 1899 the state Board
of Control was ordered to put beer and wine under the same strict
regulation as distilled liquor. Union County was allotted a separate
dispensary for beer and wine in 1899, and a second beer and wine
outlet was established in 1902, one of them located on North Gad-
berry in the basement of the Merchants and Planters National Bank
building.”

The year 1902 was also an excellent one for the sale of whiskey
in Union County. The legislative reports for that year showed that
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Union’s one dispensary sold $46,292 worth of liquor, placing the
Union outlet eighth out of the state’s 112 dispensaries.”

Union’s prohibitionist movement was gaining strength, how-
ever, and when the statewide anti-liquor lobby succeeded in 1904 in
persuading the legislature to pass the Brice Bill, authorizing counties
to vote themselves dry, the Union prohibitionists filed a petition to
hold a referendum. The ballots were taken on 15 August 1905, and
the prohibitionists counted a 352-vote margin over the wets. For the
first time in its history the entire county was legally dry.”

Prohibition was not without its price. County taxes immedi-
ately and automatically, under the Brice Bill, rose one and one-half
mills to offset the loss of state dispensary revenue to the county.
Another price was an immediate and automatic increase in boot-
legging, as numerous rural Unionites, whose ancestors had made
and consumed whiskey on Pea Ridge and along Tinker Creek since
the reign of King George II, stoked up the fires under their mash
pots. “Blind Tiger” liquor selling was apparently either winked at
or sluggishly prosecuted by the authorities, and those who wanted
whiskey seemed to have been able to procure it.%

Meanwhile, the state went out of the liquor business, abandon-
ing the dispensaries in 1907 to those counties which by local option
wished to keep them. Union’s wets, bucking opposition not only
from drys but from “blind tigers,” finally managed to get a referen-
dum on local option dispensaries scheduled for 5 November 1912.
The wets prevailed by 916 to 814, and the required machinery was
soon set up.

A county Board of Control was commissioned by the Gover-
nor, consisting of Dr. J.W. Going, physician; W.J. Haile, shoe mer-
chant; and F.B. Culp, insurance and real estate man.®' A county-
level clerk, James G. Long, Jr., worked directly under the board and
wholesaled beer, wine, and liquor to two dispensaries, run by R.N.
Leonard and J.G. Faucett, Jr., on North Gadberry Street and East
Main Street, respectively. The North Gadberry outlet was in the
Lipscomb Building in the area known as “Poverty Flat,” while the

‘Main Street dispensary was at the location later occupied by Joyce’s

Flowers.®

Liquor selling by the county was not merely for local consump-
tion; it rapidly grew into an export business, bringing considerable
revenues into the county.® During the three years (1913 through
1915, inclusive) that Union’s local option dispensaries operated, the
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Surname

Sims, Wm. A.
Sims, Jos. S., Sr.
Smith, Wm., Sr.

Simpson, Mrs. Jane C.

Sartor, John P.
Sartor, Dr. D.R.
Swedish Iron Co.
Thomson, A.W.
Thompson, J. Waddy
Tucker, James A.
Tucker, Geo. B.
Tucker, Wm.
Thomas, David A., Sr.
Walker, J.F., est.
Walker, A.O., est.
Wallace, Wm. H.
Wallace, Mrs. Jennett
Winsmith, Dr. J.
Whitlock, F.G.
White, Mrs. L].
Wilham, Ison

Young, R.B. and M

Township
Santuc

Fish Dam

Santuc

Pinckneyville

Jonesville
Union

1865
1066
1500
3224
1000
3742
1800
5325
2370
1770
1960
1241

2265
1250
1600
1200
1288
1500

2171

1200

1867
1000

2229

1527

1495

1870

1478

1950
1550

CITY OF UNION, BUSINESSES, 1902

Allen & Gault
Alman, W.E.
Arthur, W.D.
Austell, W.T,, & Co.
Bailey, H.G.

Bailey Furniture Co. (not inc.)
Bailey Lumber & Manufacturing Co.

Beatty, W.T., & Co.
Bobo, M.W.

Briggs, Mrs. MLA.
Brown, S.H. (col’d.)
Buffalo Cotton Mills
Clarke, J.W.
Cohen, J.

Colton Bros.

Duke, F.C.

Dunbar, N.P.
Excelsior Knitting Mills
Fant Bros.

Farr, N.B. (col’d.)
Farr & Thomson
Gibbs, W.M.

Going, G.W.

Going, W.L
Graham & Estes
Green & Boyd
Hames & Lipscomb

Grocery
Dir. Building Mat'Is.
Whol. Gro. & Broker
Grocery
Gro., &c.

G.S.

G.S.

Gro. & Confec.
Grocery

Manager Hotel
D. G, &c.
Grocery

Drugs

Meat Market
Hosiery

G.S.

Tailor

Fertilizers & Gro.
Hotel

G.S.

Grocery
Grocery
Vehicles

Brokers & Whol. Gro.
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From the files of Carroll Heard Goyne, Jr

10019 Canterbury Dr.
Shreveport, LA 71106
(318) 798-710%

Husband: Drury Going (R) (RN=2816)

Barn 1749 Place Lunenburg Co, Va
Harr 1767 Flace Orange Co, NC
Died 22 Feb 1796 Plate 5(%2

Bur Place Chester Co, SC
Husband's

Father John Goyne (RN=2574)
Husband's

Yife: Sarah Baxter (RN=2861)

Born 1781 Place Orange Co, NC
Died 22 Apr 1820 Place 5C
Wife's

Father Thomas Baxter (RN=2817)

M/F Children

Husband's
Mother unk (No Record!?

Wife's

Born First Marriage Died

1

Hartha Going (RN=2744}

1768
Chester Co, &C

1770
Chester Co, 5C

05 Dec 1772

Chester Co, 5C 4

10 Jan 1774
Chester Co, &C

28 Apr 1775
Chester Co, §C

1777
Chester Co, 5C

177%
Chester Co, SC

1784
Chester Co, SC

03 Apr 1786
Chester Co, SC

03 Apr 1842
fsa Tindall (RN=2795)

unk unk (RN=2825)

23 Apr 1834
unk unk (RN=2794)

03 Feb 1819
21 Aug 1804 22 Jun 186}
Rebecca Palmer (RH=2664)

Mar 1837
Elizabeth Cook (RN=2732)

Thonas Hughes (RN=2793)
Nary Hughes (RN=2934)

1804 08 Oci 1868
Robert Cook (RN=2767)

2 Elijah Going (RN=2773)

3 Job Going (RN=2663)

4 John Going (RN=2745)

5 Isaatr Going (RN=2662)

6 Janes Goyne (RN=2746)

7 Hary Going (RN=2747)

8 Thomas Baxter Goyne (RN=2748)
g Sarah Baxter Going (RN=274%)
Notes

H-1 8C Hilitia, Rev War
H-2 Wagon road from Charleston

Dther Marriages
{31-2 Reberca Lockert (RN=2750)



From the files of Carroll Heard Goyne, Jr
10019 Canterbury Or.

Shreveport, LA 71106

(318) 798-7108

Husband: Robert Cook (RN=2767)

Husband's
Hother Mary Watson (RN=2807)

Born 07 Oct 1782 Place 8C

Marr 1804 Place Chester (o, SC
Died 18 Apr 1862 Place Tuscaloosa Co, Al¥2
Husband's

Father Josiah Cook (RN=2806)

Husband's

Yife: Sarah Baxter Going (RN=2749)
Born 03 Apr 1786
Died 08 Dct 1868
Vife's

Father Drury Boing (R) (RM=2816)

M/F Children

1 F Mary Tolbert Cook (RN=2736)

2 F Elizabeth Lovelace Cook (RN=2737)

3 N Dennis Cook (RN=2798)

4 F Nancy Adaline Cook (RN=2799)

5 F Sarah Melissa Cook (RN=2800)

& M Joseph Sayre Cook (RN=2801)

7 M Thomas Chettom Cook (RN=2802)

8 F Rebecca Mahala Cook (RN=2803)

§ N Robert March Cook (RN=2804)

10 F Chelsea Monroe Cook (RN=2805)

Notes

H-1 Moved to Tuscalccsa Co, Al bir Jun 1824
H-2 P:3 Hay 1862, W Bk 3, p 128

H-3 Robt Cook Bible, DAR Lib, Wash DC

Place Chester Co, §C
Place Tuscaloosa Co, Al

Wife's
Mother Sarah Baxter (RN=2661)

Born First Marriage Died

14 Jun 1808 24 May 1826

sC

21 Oct 1807 01 Jan 1827 14 Jan 1897
SC Drennan Love (No Record)

18 Dec 1808
SC

17 Oct 1810

¢ Rev Winn (No Record)

s : Elbert Robertson (No Record)
sC

sC

sC

5¢

5C

Other Marriages
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Fron ihé files of Carroll Heard Goyne, Jr

10019 Canterbury Dr.
Shreveport, LA 71106
(318) 798-7108

Isaac HcKissick Going (RH=2670)
LAST UPDATED: 30 Apr 1938

FATHER: Isaac Going (RN=2662)
HOTHER: Rebecca Palmer (RN=2664)
Born: 02 Sep 1818
At Union Co, SC
Died: 10 Aug 1840
At: Pickens Co, Al
Buried: Franconia Cem, Pickens Co, Al
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Michigan, Ne“; Jersey,
olk Blassingames are

of this name, supplies a
mes hear resemblance to
William and Mary Quar-
Marriages.

yus entries of John Blas-
late as 1784.

GOWEN

This name in the old country is the Scotch word for marguer:te,
or meadow daisy. Even in the Motherland it is rather an unusual
name, according to a native of that country. Wigtown, Scotland, is
said to have been the home of the Southern branch of the Gowen
family." The name is variously spelled by descendants and in county
court records.

*Authority for above, Miss Sallie Gowan, Wesson, Mississippi, whose father,
Rev. Peter Gowan, was son of Peter Gowan, Sr., who had sons: Peter, Alex-
ander, John. The elder Gowan settled in Charleston, later Orangeburg, South
Carolina, where Peter Gowan and his wife died at the home of their daughter,
Mrs. Riggs.

Virginia emigrants of the name were: “Thomas Gowen. passen-
ger for Virginia, aged 18, August, 1635.” (Fol. IV, p. 261) New
England Register. Daniel Gowen, August, 1698, Gloucester County,
Virginia (Book 9, p. 146). William Gowen, April 20, 1687, Charles
City County, land grant (Book 7, p. 58).

Edward Going was settled in Charles City County, 1739 (Order
Book, p. 109).

Abingdon Parish, Gloucester County, Register 1678-1761 (pp.
2-185) records the following: Michael, son of Christopher and
Anne Gowen, born January, 1679. Sarah, daughter of James Gowen
and his wife, born January 16, 1759.

Bute County, North Carolina (1773), records contain the names
of Edward and Michael Going, showing descent from the Gloucester
County family. One Daniel Gowen emigrated to Orange County,
North Carolina, and from there to Pittsylvania County, where on
April 24, 1777, he conveys land. The Gowens living in Bedford
County from 1760 to 1784—and others in Henry County, 1784-1801,
bear unfamiliar forenames. The Gloucester County name, Edward
Going, reappears in Brunswick County, 1784. The name “Daniel”
is perpetuated in Fairfield County, South Carolina, as late as 1793
(Book 1, p. 247), Fairfield County. Daniel, Henry and John Gowen
drew pay for militia duty May 23, 1785 (Book 2, p. 199), Salley
Sub-Indents.

John Gowen leased land in Hanover County, Virginia, on June 7,
1734 (Vol. 3, p. 1638, Valentine papers). The Goochland County
family registered in St. James Parish (Douglas) may have originated
in Hanover. David Gowen owned land in Albemarle County, ad-
joining Joseph Gowen’s land. He was later (1770) in Pittsylvania
County (Book 2, p. 158).

Lands in Stafford County besides William Gowen’s, from “North-
ern Neck” grants, included Peter Gowen’s, 1722-1726 (Book A).
James Gowen, 1729-1731 (Book C, p. 116). Peter Gowen’s land
in King George and Stafford Counties consisted of 112 acres and
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adjoined Alex Clements, and Skrines(?) Creek, October 9. 1724.
- These, with William’s (1714-1719) grant, are evidently of the same
first generation in Stafford County. Peter Gowan, who scems to
have married in Stafford County three times, died there in 1753,
(See Overwharton Parish.)? The name Peter Gowen appearing in
South Carolina at a later period js significant.

No knowledge of James Gowen, who was granted land in Staf-
ford at an early date, has been obtained, except that one James
Gowen received a grant of land in Brunswick County in 1762 (Land
Office, Richmond, Book 15). This James, however, is apparently of
a later generation than James of Stafford County.

*Overwharton Parish, Isabel Gowing, wife of Peter, died March 11, 1745.
Peter Gowing married —— Owens, Nov. 10, 1747,

Peter Gowing married Mary Sullivant, March 28, 1745, Peter Gowing
died at Priscilla Hayes, May 22, 1753.

Of the emigrants enumerated, evidence points to Thomas or Wil
liam Gowen as the progenitor of the “Northern Neck” line. OQur
interest concerns the Stafford County Gowens, with whom, in South
Carolina, a definite connection is linked.

William Gowen’s firstberant in Stafford County, November 23,
1714, is followed on F ebruary 28, 1719, by another from the Pro-
prietors, this tract being on the “Main Run of Accotink Creek.”

Official records of. the Gowens in Stafford County were destroyed
in Book L, 1728.1731 (index remaining). Probably the Will of
William Gowen, or his estate account, was recorded therein, Staf-
ford County Deed Book (photostat copy, Virginia State Library,
and original acquired by the Huntington Library) throws light on
the genealogy of the Gowens who lived there in early times.

DEEDS (ABSTRACTED IN PART)

William Going to William Godfrey, May 6, 1724 (pp. 122-]125,
Deeds 1. (Virginia State Library.)

. William Going of Overwharton Parish, Stafford County, to Wil-
liam Godfrey of the same. E. side main run Jonathan’s Creek, a
parcel of land taken up by William Going and Evans Thomas, land
in Stafford County, Overwharton Parish. John Wilson, Moses Lin-
ton, witnesses. Recorded May 13, 1724. Power of aitorney from
William Going to these witnesses, Release. William V. Going.

March 6, 1726. (Book 1 » P+ 353, Deeds.) Stafford County. Am-
brose Going of Stafford County, Overwharton Parish, planter, and
Kathrine “100 acres on branch issuing out of Pope’s Head Run,
said branch known as “Rattlesnake Branch.”

Lease of Ambrose Gowing to Kathrine Gowing, widow. George
Mason, Joseph Haines, Brent Hutnall, witnesses. Recorded March
8, 1726; release p- 354. “Proprietors of Northern Neck of Vir-
ginia unto William Gowing, father of the said Ambrose Gowing, by
pa?;t)bearing'date 12th Nov., 1725.” (Recorded Maych 8, 1726,
P 358). :
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William Going appoints well-beloved friend, Lewis Sanders, of
County of Stafford, altorney to acknowledge sale of ninety (90)
acres of land in Stafford County, to William Godfrey. May 13,
1724 (p. 125, Deed Book).

1. William Gowen, born before 1693, married Kathrine(?),
and died about 1726. '

Issue:

Ambrose.
Thomas.
William.
John (1). .
5. Daughter, married William Godfrey(?).

II. Thomas Gowen acquired land in Fairfax County, February
16, 1743 (Book B, p- 53). We follow him by land transactions
through lower Virginia, to North Carolina. A deed in Fairfax
County, May, 1744, relates to land there—100 acres “where Thomas
Going formerly lived.” A Wil recorded in Randolph County,
North Carolina, February 7, 1797, “wife, Elizabeth,” was possibly
made by above Thomas Gowen (Wills, Book 1, p. 37).

ITT. William Gowen, untraced,

IV. We know that John Gowen (1) was the son of the above
William (1) as he so states in the following deed: “Part of a tract
granted to William Gowen, deceased, father to said Gowen, from the
Proprictors dated Nov., 12, 1725.” (This land was on Pope’s Head
Run, Fairfax County.) On July 10, 1744, John Gowen was granted
land in Fairfax County on north Run of Pohick which he later leases.

June, 1746, Mary Gowen, wife of John Gowen (1). and daughter
of Cornelius Keife,* signs deed to land in Fairfax County and sub-
sequent deeds in Lunenburg County, Virginia.

*Cornelius Kiefe was contemporary with William Gowen of Stafford County
and doubtless a neighbor, as he patented land on “the north side Occoquan
River near Ridgewell” (Book 5, p. 268), Northern, Neck Grants,

January 11, 1714-15, he was also granted land in Stafford County on south
side Neapsco Run. He with his wife, Elizabeth, is settled with family con-
nections in Brunswick County in 1744, They must have preceded the Gowens,
for on May 3, 1739, “Cornelius Keeife came into Court and made oath that he
never made use of his Importation Right and that this is the first time; and
that it is now thirty years ago since his importation which is ordered to be
certified.” (Order Book 1, p. 241), Brunswick County, Virginia.

Cornelius Keith (Kiefe) is deeded land from Robert Hicks, Sr., of Bruns.
wick County; 100 acres “part of lowermost hundred acres of said tract, hegin-
ning upon Col. Mumford’s line and running out along said line, and up Roan-
oke River to .. . upon a square . , . the said Keith’s improvements and plantations
and all the rights and privileges belonging to the said Keith for seating and
cultivating it.” (Decds, Book 1, p. 125.)

This land is sold on March 3, 1742 (Recorded Feb., 1745), to Thomas
Twitty by Cornelius Keith (of Brunswick County). The deed describes the
land as “100 acres deed of gift from Robert Hicks, Sr,, late of said ' county,
dated May 22, M. D. C. C. 39 part of a larger traci, grant to Robert Hicks
in his lifetime, and lying and being in the County.” Elizabeth, wife of Cor-
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ime in"1765, iravelled to the distant northwestern corner
f?rstg:tllla%atrlcrﬁfna to claim land granted him there‘ on Pacelot Rlyer
?n December, 1774: He may have resided e:arlier in South Carolmzz
with others of the name, in the Pee Dee section during t~he ten ?rears
interval occurring between h's North and South Carolina honlfels:
William Gowen (2) died in N}nety-Slx D1§tr1ct, South Caro J.na
(later Granville County)." His Will was written there on March
10, 1785, and probated June 8, 1.792. (Wm. Lancaster, Clerk
Su,perior Court.) The Will names wife, Sarah.
Children:
1. Son, John.
2. Daughter, Ann Easley. S —_—
(Copied August 7, 1914, from original in Probate’s office.)

—"It i:;robable that William Gowen (2) (above) had other sons whose
names were William, Allen, Joseph, James.

ing South Carolina through the northeastern section from
Nor?l?tél:r(ﬁina, two Gowen brothers, John‘ and James', settled I'Eltel'
in the Piedmont and in the Southern section, ‘1;espect1vely. It is a
tradition preserved in the latter family that “two brothers came
from Scotland to this country and settled at Combahez Ferry, Beau-
fort District, South Carolina. One of them went farther north, prob-

ly in South Carolina.? ) '

. 3'gl‘here is evidence that the traditional “two brothers” were iden-
tical with John Gowen (2) of Upper South Carolina, and James (2)
of Combahee Ferry, of the Coast Section. From a careful study of
source material, these brothers were great grandsons of Scottish

igrants to Virginia. ) .
erm.%ohn Gowen TZ), planter, of Granville (%OUI]t)’, ]\orth,Car)ol.ma,
1761-62. was evidently the same as he of the grant in Prince
William Parish, Beaufort District, Novelxllwelf'IQ,. 1772. There were
other grants to James Gowen in the same district as late as 1788
(Book 27, p. 273), Land Grants, Columbia, bopth pax'ollna.

On June 29, 1785, James Gowen (2) and his wife, Mary Gowex},
of Combahee, and Richard Keating sign a legal agreement to a busi-
ness partnership in a store or trade conducted by Mary Gowe_n, for
a consideration of five shillings paid James Gowen by Richard
Keating—*the said James Gowen agreeing not to interfere with his
wife’s business but that he, his heirs, or executors, shall not be
liable for any debt or debts which the said Mary Gowen shall, or
may hereafter, contract, in carrying on her sple separate trade.
James Gowen gives his bond to Richard‘Keatmg in trust to and
for the said Mary Gowen as aforesaid in the penal sum of 200
pounds sterling.”” This agreement witnessed by: Mr. James Luns-
den, Susanna Donovan. Sworn to in the City of Charleston, J_une
29, 1785, Recorded November 18, 1785 ( Py, 20-204.), book mixed
records, Charleston, S. C. See John Gowen’s Will, Spartanburg,
5.G
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"Authority for above, My, William Gowen of Woodhine, Camden County,
Georgia.

James Gowen was a “member of Company of Volunteers, First
Council of Safety of Revolutionary Party, Prince William Parish,
Beaufort County, October 20, 1775. Capt. Darius Dalton’s Co.”

“This is perhaps the ancestor of the Combahee family who remained in
Beaufort County and some of whose descendants moved (o the coast section
of Georgia.

There were other Gowen settlers in the eastern part of South
Carolina. The Land Office, Columbia, records the following:: May
16, 1770, John Gowing, 200 acres in Craven Counly on Downing
Creek forks of Little Pee Dee (Book 2, p. 267.) Other grants to
John Gowings in Georgetown District were made on August 1 and
August 7, 1786 (Book 4, p. 238), and in Prince George Parish,
Georgelown District. These lines untraced.

The Gowen family pioneered the northwestern section of South
Carolina, then known as the “Apex Cession,” being ceded to the
State by Cherokee Indians in 1776, but not occupied until after the
Revolution. ‘

Joseph Gowen” seems Lo have led the way with the earliest land
grant of the many Gowens, December 23, 1771. This tract was
designated as a Tiger River tract (Book 23, p. 539).

John Gowen (2) was granted 100 acres on Tiger River, August
19, 1774 (Book 32, p. 205).

William Gowen, later in the same year (December 8, 1774) . ac-
quired by grant 100 acres on south fork Pacelot River, bounded by
vacant lands. (Book 34, p. 286). (The foregoing were probably
brothers, sons of William (2) of Granville County.)

*Joseph Gowen was the son of William of E}ranviﬂc County. North Carolina,
1760. (Book E, p. 143.)

Later grants to “Up Country” settlers of the name were: Janu-
ary 1, William Gowen, 391 acres in 96th District, middle fork of
Tiger, laid out for Edmund Bearden. (Book 2, p. 549.)

January 1, 1785, Allen Gowen, Ninety-Six District, fork of Tiger,
bounded by lands laid out for Thomas Benson and on southeast to
land laid out to Michael Miller (Book 2, p. 550, January 21, 1785,
Allen Gowen,** N inety-Six District, Pacelot River (Book 2, p. 532),

June 29, 1784, January 1, 1787, Ann Easley,” land on Reedy
River, Old Indian. Boundary, northwest by Hawkins (Book 2, P
347), all other sides vacant lands,

October 15, 1784, John Gowen (2), 400 acres middle forks of
Saluda (Book 1, p. 593).

May 1, 1786, Letty Gowen, Ninety-Six District, Twelve-Mile
Creek (Book 9, p. 38).
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January 24, 1787, John Gowen (2), Ninety-Six District, 342 acres
Boolk 14, p. 137). ‘
: Januar){) 22, 1793, Major John Gowen (2), 1000 acres Washing-
ton and Pinckney District (Vol. 32, p. 142).

1785, John Gowen, 294 acres above the line of branches of
Twelve-Mile River (Book B, p. 153), Abbeville County. .

1785, Letty Gowen, “citizen,” is granted 256 acres in Abbeville
County (Book B, p. 153).

19A1len Gowen, at the time of the first census, was a resident of Greenville
District. He, with John Gowen (2), witnesses a deed of John Combs ?f Wa_sh-
ington County, North Carolina, to John Molen. Feb. 20, 1785%, Greenville
County, South Carolina. (Book A, p. 213.) He rcmoved later to Tenressee.

Ann Easley was daughter of William Gowen (2). (See Will.)

The land on Twelve-Mile Creek, then in Abbeville County,
granted to Letty Gowen, “citizen,” by letters patent. May 1, 1786
(Book KK, p. 446), State of South Carolina, was sold by her (and
her husband, John Gowen (2), joined in the sale) to Benj. Barton
of Greenville County (December 13, recorded 1788, Anderson
County). Allen Gowen, with others, witnesses the deed. John and
Letty Gowen then occupied the Upland grant between south fork
of Pacelot and the west fork of Tiger River. The village of Gowens-
ville was named for this pioneer and was probably the site of
“Gowen’s Fort,” where Major Gowen gathered sold’ers who fought
with him in the War of the Revolution, and protected the families
of these patriots. Until his death in 1809, he was an outstanding
figure in his section.

On April 11, 1791, John Gowen (2) was commissioned Sheriff
of Spartanburg County. John Gowen, William Benson and Andrews
Thompson gave bond for him to the State (Book B, p. 472). In a
conveyance of land, 1788, he is referred to as “John Gowen, late
Sheriff of Spartanburg County” (Book F, p. 178).

John Gowen (2) (Major John) was born before 1740 in Vir-
ginia; married before 1760, Lettice Bearden, daughter of Lettie
Winn and John Bearden. Letty B. Gowen died before 1809.

John Gowen and his wife, Letty Gowen, had

Children: (named in Will)**

Winn B. Gowen.

Letty.

Minerva.

James.

Elizabeth Woodson.

William (deceased).
John.

“Tywo other daughters were not mentioned in above Will. These were:
1. Mary, who married James Blassingame and then lived in the upper end of

SRV UL o b
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Greenville County. 2. Sarah, who ha:d married William Fasley and had
removed to Hickman County, Tennessee.

JOHN GOWEN’S WILL

In the name of God, Amen. I, John Gowen, being afflicted by
the hand of Almighty God and knowing it is once ordained for all
men to die, do ordain, constitute and appoint this my last Will and
Testament, hereby revoking all other Wills by me made, excepting
such property that is, viz: as I have already hestowed 1o my
children.

I pray God who gave it to take my soul, my body to return from
whence it came and be buried in a Christian manner, by direction
of my executors to be hereinafter named. .

1. I bequeath unto my son, Winn B. Gowen, a tract of land
lying and being in Greenville District on both sides of middle Tygar
River, the line to begin at the mouth of a branch emptying into the
same river on the north side below the mill—thence a direct line
to the upper end of a big cove and to the line of my land—thence
my line to the opposite, to the beginning. Also two negroes called
Zed and Spence, together with a stock of cattle and hogs now on
the premises before mentioned, one bed and furniture; also my part
of a bay gelding that he rides.

2. 1 bequeath unto my daughter, Lettie, a plantation by Ann
Easley’s place, three negro girls known by the names Vina, Ede and
Harriot, one bed and furniture and two cows and calves.

3. I bequeath unto my daughter, Minerva, a tract of land lying
on the south side of Saluda where my son, James Gowen, attended;
two negroes named Cresa and Asa, one bed and furniture, $100.00
to purchase a horsebeast, two cows and calves, and her mother’s
sattle (saddle?).

4. T bequeath unto my daughter, Elizabeth Woodson, a tract of
land on Tyger River called Sulsias place.

5. I bequeath unto my son, James Gowen, 800 acres to begin
at the ford of the river on south Pacelot, now used between here
and where he lives, and thence a north course so to include the
schoolhouse spring® where Davis taught, and thence ’round to a
line to be made for John Roddy; thence to the beginning, so as to
include the Jamison fields.

6. I give and bequeath to my grandson. John Gowen, son of
William. deceased, all the lands between what I have given him
and Lettie, that I own, also one girl named Hannah; to my grand-
daughter, Mahulda, a negro boy called Buck: unto Matilda a negro
boy called Sip; a negro hoy named Ben unto Leity (my grand-
daughter).

If any of these legatees d’e without lawlul issue. the property
to be returned and equally divided between my children then liv-
ing. I hereby appoint John and Winn Gowen, my sons, and James
Blassingame and Street Thurston, my sons-in-law, to be the executors
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time in his 82nd year. Mr. Dill further stated that his father-in-law,
Mr. Howard, was a member of Major Gowen’s command and had
en related the story to him.

Mr Dill further stated that at the time Major Gowen’s command

pproaching the camp of Indians, the little Gilly boy was
ng sticks to make a fire. He recognized Major Gowen and
0 -to meet them. _

g the Indians killed in Bates’ camp was a squaw with a
in her arms. The little surviving papoose was committed to
{ Edwin Harmon, a lad of about fificen, whose parents
dered by the Indians in 1776, the circumstances of which
related elsewhere.

r Buck Gowen was a true patriot, and but for his active
tting: together his militia, there is no telling to what

ld have carried his bloody work on the innocent
s people. His place of residence was the present
~Mr. ‘Baker Caldwell, on South Pacelot. Nothing

w the old home place except a sunken place in the
his cellar, The present village of Gowensville,
stance {rom where he resided, was named in honor

umstance was given to Mr. Landrum in a MSS. letter by
le Henry M. Earle, of Greenville County, South Carolina.
_Was mentioned in connection with a series of articles published
Col. and Rev. Hist. S. C., Landrum (pp. 361-2).

nt, King’s Mountain MSS., p- 303, Draper Col-

on listorical Society,
McDowell, of DeKalb County, Georgia, states that Robt.
1 was a private soldier under the command of Capt. Gowen,
e, He was acquainted with him for the term of
e command of Capt.. Gowen, as necessity - re-
& soldier in the company of Light Horse;

m Spartanburg, South Carolina, to Salisbury,
at both belonged to- Col. White”

- “Among those who pursued Bates and his party was Major
Buck Gowen. With a party of resolute men he overtook the Indians
camp beyond the headwaters of the Tiger River, killed and =~
d some and routed the rest. Unfortunately he did not capture
s, but re-captured the Gilly children whom we have just men-

particulars of this circumstance were related to the writer
about ten years ago by Elias Dill (now deceased), who was at that

the‘-‘-battle that was fought at the Pacelot =
‘they were engaged in -guarding a ‘com-

s Regiment.”
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is definitely known of him or his descendants. He qualified as an
executor of his father’s estate, January 8, 1810, and his name last
appears in connection with this estate on January 21, 1813, when
he is summoned to settle with the legatees.

II. Letty Gowen (named for her mother) and daughter of John
Gowen (2), married Street Thurston. Issue untraced.

III. Minerva Gowen, who inherited land from her father on
south side of Saluda, is unmarried in 1814, when inventory of
John (2) Gowen’s personal property is made and she is paid
$400.00 “agreeable to the Testator’s Will.” .

IV. James Gowen, son of John Gowen (2), who received a large
bequest of land from his father on South Pacelot River, left no
Will in Greenville County. He is listed in the first census of Green-
ville County, 1790. In 1833, James M. Gowen deeds land to Wil-
liam Lovelace (p. 167, Book), Spartanburg, S. C.

“Reference to widow Polly Gowen Combahee, and the “store at New Mar-
ket” in John Gowen’s Will, indicates relationship of the two James Gowens.
The early date, 1785, of the business contract between James and Mary Gowen
at Combahee points to the generation of “Major John,” unless this son James
removed after John's Will was written, 1809, to upper Saluda River.

V. Elizabeth Gowen, daughter of John {2), married Tucker
Woodson and inherited from her father a tract of land on Tiger
River. Tucker Woodson figures in land grants and deeds in the
following: “Tucker Woodson, of Abbeville County, August 26,
1790: deed to Henry William Dessausure, of Charleston, South
Carolina, 200 acres land in Pendleton, forks of Kiowee and Tugaloo,
on both sides Little Beaver Dam Creek, granted Tucker Woodson,
April 3, 1786 (Book A, p. 150), Anderson County. Reference also:
(Book KK, p. 312), Office of Secretary of State, Columbia.

Issue of Elizabeth Gowen Woodson and Tucker Woodson, un-
traced,

- VL. William Gowen (3), son of John (2), born before 1775,
died in Spartanburg Ceunty before h's father, John, who re-
fers to “son, William, deceased,” in Will dated 1809. The records
show (see extracts) that his estate was appraised and administered
between the years 1804-1806. John Gowen, his father, was admin-

~dstrator, The children mentioned in these records and in “Lan-
~drum’s History” all bear Gowen forenames.

- Miriam Earle, born November 24, 1775, in South Carolina,

‘married January 28, 1796, William Gowen, a Revolutionary sol-
er 'known as “Major Buck Gowen.”* (See Col. and Rev. Hist.

C., pp. 361-2.) :

Children:
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“Miriam Earle was the ninth child of Mary Prince, born Decem-
ber, 1744, an_d Bayliss Earle, born August 8, 1734, Westmoreland
County, Virginia.” (Landrum’s History of Spartanburg County.)

BError. .\’Iajo’}' Buck Gowen, of Revolutionary fame, was John Gowen (2)
o(_“q;owen’s Fort” (see John Gowen’s Will (Book A, p. 3), Spartanburg County.
Xhlém% Gowen, who married Mary Earle, was son of Major John Gowen,

WILLIAM GOWEN’S ESTATE ACCOUNT

John Thomas, Jr.. Ordinary, Greenville County, South Carolina.
Warrant of appraisement.

Thomas Brunnet. Jesse Mayfield, John Motlow, Arch Elliot and
John Goodlett are ordered to repair to William Gowen’s house and
appraise his estale. Sworn to by Robert Cook, Justice. Inventory
of estate returned July 30, 1804.

Bill of sale of Goods and Chattels of William Gowen.

June 22, 1804, “Mrs. Miriam Gowen” frequent purchaser of
William Gowen’s effects. An account of calculation of sale, May 3,
1806. 5361.751. '

Bill of second sale of “Goods and Chattels,” May 22, 1805.
Amt. 1098.375 (D. C. M.). Sale on January 15, list of monies and
accts. May 16, 1801. John Gowen, administrator.

Wm. Gowen’s Est. Acct., May 16, 1804.

To amt. due by the widow, Polly Gowen, Combahee, $100.00.
Order given by estate of Elias Earle on John Motlow, $20.00. James
Blassingame, $4.00. (Desp.) Benj. Hawkins. James Gowen due on
a lemporary settlement, $350.74. Monies on hand May 16, 1804:
Amt. store kept at New Market. Amt. half tavern kept at New Mar-
ket, $2501.115. Total Amt., $3953.881.

Return of debts paid by John Gowen, administrator: Expenses
of last sickness, 25.34.00. Doctors’ fees: Dr. B. Moore, 16.87.5.
Dr. Wilkerson, 9.25. Dr. Hardwick, 10.00.

VII. John (2) Gowen, son, John (3), is named executor of his
father’s estate but the Will conveys no other information of him.
He married, after 1790, a daughter of Prue Benson (probably
Mary), of Greenville, South Carolina, and was living in 1819,

Prue Benson’s Will, Greenville County, South Carolina, October
19, 1819. Recorded October 1, 1821.

“I give and bequeath unto my son-in-law, John Gowen, four
negroes, also half of a mill built between P. 1. Gowen and myself.
To son, William B. Benson, five negroes; daughter, Jane, five
negroes. Plantation tract of land and all the balance of my per-
sonal property to be sold at public sale on a credit of twelve (12)-

_months and the money arising from the sale therein between John
Gowen, William B. Benson and Jean Benson. I do hereby appoint
John B. Gowen and William B. Benson my lawful executors.
Thomas Beuson, Evalina Benson, Henry Hall, witnesses. Sale of
goods, December 1, 1821. John Gowen, William B. Benson, pui-
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chasers; also John H. Fasley, Thomas Wynn.

VIII. Sarah Gowen, born June 5, 1774, died Oct. 8, 1852, and
William Easley, born May 8, 1767, died May 20, 1826, were mar-
ried March 10. 1789, Spartanburg District, South Carolina.

Issue:

1. Millington FEasley, born March 5, 1790, Spartanburg
District, South Carolina.

2. Kindness B. Easley, born September 21, 1792, Spartan-

burg District, South Carolina.

Matilda Easley, born March 1, 1795, Spartanburg Dis-
trict, South Carolina.

John Gowen Easley, born January 1, 1798.

Mahulda Allen Easley, born April 21, 1800; married
Charles Bowen.

Letty Gowen Easley, born August 5, 1802.

Elizabeth Gowen Easley, born February 23, 1805.

Polly Easley, born August 6, 1807; married Robert
Sheegog.

9. Minerva Easley, born January [, 1810, Hickman County,
Tennessee.

10. Sarah Gowen Easley, born August 29, 1812, Hickman
County, Tennessee.

11. William Benson Easley, born October 29, 1814.

12. Permelia Easley, born June 20, 1817.

5. Mahulda Allen Easley, born April 21, 1800, in Greenville
District, South Carolina, died October. 21, 1868, in Tallahatchee
County, Mississippi; married October 21, 1817, Charles Bowen,
born February 17, 1791, Pendleton District, South Carolina. Lived
some years in Hickman County, Tennessee; died May 3, 1843, in
Oxford, Mississippi.

Children:

1. Mary Caroline Bowen, born October 6, 1826, in Hick-
man County, Tennessee; died November 30, 1902, Ox-
ford, Mississippi. Married, April 14, 1846, William
Smith Neilson, born 1813, died 1892.

Children:
1. A. Louise Neilson.

Other children of William and Sarah Gowen Easley are untraced
with the exception of Mary Easley Sheegog and daughter, Sarah
Gowen Easley, who married William Williams. These records were
supplied by Mr. Joshua Williams, of Water Valley, Mississippi, son
of Sarah Gowen Easley Williams and William Williams.

e

o G

“William Eusley was the son of Millington Easley, who spent his early life
in Granville County, North Carolina. and moved to Greenville District, South
Carolina, 1783-84; married Elizabeth(?). Died, June 14, 1814, in Hickman
County, Tennessee. Millington Easlev's Estate Acct. 1806, Thos. Blassingame
and John Goweu mentioned several times. Greenville County, South Carolina,
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April 2 (File 148). From Mary Louise Neilson’s Family Tree made for her
by her aunt, Miss Lou Neilson, Oxford, Mississippi.

8. Mary Easley, born in Spartanburg, South Carolina, August 6,
1807, died Oxford Mississippi, I'ebruary 27, 1871: married Robert
Sheegog, native of North Ireland, born August 31, 1801, died Au-
gust 27, 1860.

Children:
1. William Sheegog, born August 19, 1826; died August
3, 1830.
2. Anna Maria, born October 15, 1838; died August 10,
1855.

3. James Gowen Sheegog, born Hickman County, Tennes-
see, April 11, 1836; died 1869. :
4. Joella Pegues Sheegog, 1839-1938.

TENNESSEE GRANTS, LAND OFFICE, NASHVILLE, TENN.
Robert Easley, waters White Oak Creek, 1812 (Book K, p. 384).
Thomas Easley, Sr. (Book V, p. 878).

John Easley (Book W, p. 208), 1823.

Warham Easley (Book Y, p. 380), Madison County, 1824 (Jack-
son County Seat).

William Easley, Carroll County, 1824 (Book Y, p. 124).

John Easley, Giles County, 1826.

John Easley, West Perry County, 1836 (Book FF, p. 130).

Robert Easley, 1836, Hickman County. James D. Easley, 1843,
Hickman County. Millington Easley, 1825, Hickman County. John
Easley, 1824, Hickman County.

Alexander Gowen, August, 1814 (p. 120, Book G), Bull Run.
(This Alex. Gowen lived in Orange County, North Carolina, at an
earlier date.)

William Gowen, Headwaters east fork Mulberry, August, 1815
(Book K, p. 258). James Gowen, east fork of Mulberry, March,
1822 (Book S, p. 785). Joseph Gowen, Rutherford County, 1824.
James B. Gowen, 1826, Bedford County. James B. Gowen, 1831,
November 5, 160 acres.

EASLEY CONNECTIONS

William (2) Gowen’s daughter, Ann, married John Easley.
She received a grant on May 28, 1785, from Governor Guerrard
of South Carolina to “land in Greenville County” (p. 28, Book B).
Her name appears in the census list for that county, 1790. In 1786
Ann Easley asks for pay due to her husband, John Easley, and son,

Willington Easley, for Revolutionary service, stating that they are -

both dead. She asks that the money be paid to Capt. John Gowen.
1790, Ann Easley: deced to Edmund Bearden the tract of land
granted her in 1785.

Edmund Bearden sold to Mr. Jamison (the deed signed by Winn
Bearden) land on both sides of George’s Creek of Saluda. This
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tract of 340 acres in Washington District was afterwards granted to
John Gowen of Spartanburg by Gov. Pinckney. John Gowen sells
this land on July 5, 1792 (p. 3, Book D), Pendleton County. James
Easley and Jesse Moss, witnesses.

Millington Easley’s estate account, dated 1806, Greenville Coun-
ty, South Carolina, names John Gowen and Thomas Blassingame
and “Widow” Easley, William, Elizabeth, Robert, Pleasant, Betsy,
John and Thomas Easley. v

IX. Mary Gowen, daughter of John (2) and Letty Gowen, was
born before 1779, and was married before 1798, to James Blassin-
game of Greenville County, South Carolina. Mary Gowen Blassin-
game died there at the home of her son, William Blassingame, in
1850.

Children of Mary and John Gowen:

1. Permelia.
Elizabeth.
William.
John G.
Winn.

James.
. Mary Benson.
(See Blassingame.)

SO gk LoI DD

LETTERS

Letter from Miss Minnie Smith, Glenn Springs, Spartanburg
County, South Carolina, July 3, 1923:

“I saw the records of Friendship Church but can’t recall that
Lettice Bearden (or Gowen) was a member of the same. My grand-
mother Mourning Smith was a membet of ‘Old Friendship.” When
my grandmother had to flee from the Tories she went to her sister,
Lettice Gowan, who lived in the extreme upper part of the District,
as it was then called. Some of the Gowans may have lived in North
Carolina; but my father never spoke of the Winns and Beardens
as having lived there, but always said they came from Virginia.”

Letter from J. M. Gowan, Pauline, S. C,, R. F. D. 1:

“My grandfather Gowan came from Virginia, but I don’t know
what part he came from. He camé to South Carolina in Union
Counly and served in the Revolutionary War. ;

“My oldest brother, John, moved from here to Arkansas before
the Civil War. He died several years ago. I was quite young.

“My brother, George Gowan, married, raised a family and died
in Texas.

“] knew one Mr. Wynn Bearden who lived here in my com-
munity, but he is dead and leaves no trace of Wynns. He is buried
at Friendship Baptist Church, near here.”

December 13, 1913.

“] am sorry I have no record of the Gowen family and can only
tell you what I have known all my life. My father’s ancestors came
to America before the Revolutionary War and they were Scotch-
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adjoined Alex Clements, and Skrines(?) Creek, October 9, 1724.
These, with William’s (1714-1719) grant, are evidently of the same
first generation in Stafford County. Peter Gowan, who scems to
have married in Stafford County three times, died there in 1753.
(See Overwharton Parish.)® The name Peter Gowen appearing in
South Carolina at a later period is significant.

No knowledge of James Gowen, who was granted land in Staf-
ford at an early date, has been obtained, except that one James
Gowen received a grant of land in Brunswick County in 1762 (Land
O flice, Richmond, Bool: 15). This James, however, is apparently of
a later generation than James of Stafford County.

“Overwharton Parish, Isabel Gowing, wife ol Peter, died March 11, 1745.
Peter Gowing married —— Oweng, Nov. 10, 1747.

Peter Gowing married Mary Sullivant, March 28, 1745. Peter Gowing
died at Priscilla Hayes, May 22, 1753.

Of the emigrants enumerated, evidence points to Thomas or Wil-
liam Gowen as the progenitor of the “Northern Neck” line. Our
interest concerns the Stafford County Gowens, with whom, in South
Carolina, a definite connection is linked.

William Gowen’s first grant in Stafford County, November 23,
1714, is followed on February 28, 1719, by another from the Pro-
prietors, this tract being on the “Main Run of Accotink Creek.”

Official records of the Gowens in Stafford County were destroyed
in Book L, 1728-1731 (index remaining). Probably the Will of
William Gowen, or his estate account, was recorded therein. Staf-
ford County Deed Book (photostat copy, Virginia State Library,
and original acquired by the Huntington Library) throws light on
the genealogy of the Gowens who lived there in early times.

DEEDS (ABSTRACTED IN PART)

William Going to William Godfrey, May 6, 1724 (pp. 122-125,
Deeds 1). (Virginia State Library.)

William Going of Overwharton Parish, Stafford County, to Wil-
liam Godfrey of the same. E. side main run Jonathan’s Creek, a
parcel of land taken up by William Going and Evans Thomas, land
in Stafford County, Overwharton Parish. John Wilson, Moses Lin-
ton, witnesses. Recorded May 13, 1724. Power of attorney from
William Going to these witnesses. Release. William W. Going.

March 6, 1726, (Book 1, p. 353, Deeds.) Stafford County. Am-
brose Going of Stafford County, Overwharton Parish, planter, and
Kathrine “100 acres on branch issuing out of Pope’s Head Run,
said branch known as “Rattlesnake Branch.”

Lease of Ambrose Gowing to Kathrine Gowing, widow. George
Mason, Joseph Haines, Brent Hutnall, witnesses. Recorded March
8, 1726; release p. 354 “Proprietors of Northern Neck of Vir-
ginia unto William Gowing, father of the said Ambrose Gowing, by
patent bearing date 12th Nov., 1725.” {Recorded March 8, 1726,
p. 358). .

Recorps oF THIRTEEN FAMILIES 3

William Going appoints well-beloved friend, Lewis Sanders,
County of Stafford, aitorney to acknowledge sale of ninety (9t
acres of land in Stafford County, to William Godfrey. May 1
1724 (p. 125, Deed Book).

1. William Gowen, born before 1693, married Kathrine(?
and died about 1726.

Issue:

1. Ambrose.

2. Thomas.

3. William.

4. John (1). .

5. Daughter, married William Godfrey(?).

II. Thomas Gowen acquired land in Fairfax County, Iebrua
16, 1743 (Book B, p. 53). We follow him by land transactio
through lower Virginia, to North Carolina. A deed in Fairf
County, May, 1744, relates to land there—100 acres “where Thom
Going formerly lived.” A Will recorded in Randolph Count
North Carolina, February 7, 1797, “wife, Elizabeth,” was possib
made by above Thomas Gowen (Wills, Book 1, p. 37).

I11. William Gowen, untraced.

1V. We know that John Gowen (1) was the son of the abo
William (1) as he so states in the following deed: “Part of a tre
granted to William Gowen, deceased, father to said Gowen, from t
Proprietors dated Nov. 12, 1725.” (This land was on Pope’s He
Run, Fairfax County.) On July 10, 1744, John Gowen was grant
land in Fairfax County on north Run of Pohick which he later leas:

June, 1746, Mary Gowen, wife of John Gowen (1), and daught
of Cornelius Keife,’ signs deed to land in Fairfax County and su
sequent deeds in Lunenburg County, Virginia.

3Cornelius Kiefe was contethporary with William Gowen of Stafford Cow
and doubtless a neighbor, as he patenterd land on “the north side Occoqu
River near Ridgewell” (Book 5, p. 208), Northern Neck Grants.

January 11, 1714-15, he was also granted land in Stafford County on sm
side Neapsco Run. He with his wife, Elizabeth, is settled with family o
nections in Brunswick County in 1744. They must have preceded the Gowe
for on May 3, 1739, “Cornelius Keeife came into Court and made oath that
never made use of his Importation Right and that this is the first time; a
that it is now thirty years ago since his importation which is ordered to
certified.” (Order Book 1, p. 241), Brunswick County, Virginia.

Cornelius Keith (Kiefe) is deeded land from Robert Hicks, Sr., of Bru
wick County; 100 acres “part of lowermost hundred acres of said tract, beg
ning upon Col. Mumford’s line and running out along said line, and up Ro:
oke River to ... upon a square . . . the said Keith’s improvements and plantatic
and all the rights and privileges belonging to the said Keith for seating a
cultivating it.”  (Deeds, Book 1, p. 125.)

This land is sold on March 3, 1742 (Recorded Feb., 1745), to Thon
Twitty by Cornelius Keith (of Brunswick County). The deed describes 1
land as “100 acres deed of gift from Robert Iicks, Sr., late of said coun
dated May 22, M. D. C. C. 39 part of a larger tract, grant to Robert Hic
in his lifetime, and lying and heing in the County.” Elizabeth, wife of (;
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JACKSON COUNTY, GEORGIA

James Gawin appeared as the head of a household in the 1840
census of Jackson County, Georgia.

Dillard Goins was born in South Carolina about 1791, accord-
ing to a descendant, Carolyn Tuck Sanders of Ennis, Texas.
"Dillard Goen" served in Capt. Robinson's Company of South
Carolina militia in the War of 1812, according to "War of
1812 Pensioners" by Virgil D. White. He later received Pen-
sion No. 30046. He was married about 1818, wife's name,
Nancy.

Dillard Goins was listed as the head of a household in the 1830
census of Jackson County, page 321. The household was enu-
merated as:

"Goins, Dillard white male 30-40
white female 30-40
white female 15-20
white male 10-15
white male 10-15
white female 5-10
white male <0-5)
white female 0-5

white male @f

Dillard Goins "of Jackson County" received a draw in the 1832
"gold" land lottery of Georgia and was awarded 40 acres of
land, according to "Jackson County, Georgia" by Frary El-
rod.

Children born to Dillard Goins and Nancy Goins are believed
to include:

Dillard Goins
Jane Goins

born about 1819
born about 1831

Dillard Goins, son of Dillard Goins, was born about 1819,
probably in Jackson County. Dillard Goin" was married to
Permelia C. Conley October 14, 1840 in adjoining Forsyth
County, Georgia, according to Forsyth County Marriage Book
A, page 98. Of Permelia C. Conley Goin nothing more in
known.

It is believed that Dillard Gowen was remarried about 1841,
wife's name, Mincrva and that Dillard Goin and Minerva
Gowen emigrated to Texas, probably to the Smith County area,
about 1860.

On February 10, 1862 "Dillard Gowen" enlisted as a private in
the Sixth Texas Cavalry, CSA, commanded by Col. O. W.
Roberts, later governor of the state. "Dillard Gowen" enlisted
at Tyler, Texas for one year and was 43 years old at that time.
On April 30, 1862 he was stationed at Camp Lubbock, Texas.

If these documentations refer to the same man, then he was
born in 1819 probably in Georgia and received an "orphan's
draw" at age 13 in the Georgia gold lottery. Widows and or-
phans were entitled to a draw in the lottery as well as house-
holders under the Georgia statute.

Gowen White, San Antonio, Texas has researched the family of
Dillard Goen who appeared in Palo Pinto County, Texas in
1884. Most likely this is the same "Dillard Gowen," orphan
from Jackson County whose name underwent a change of

rom: \
c; O (?_ ws ’PQJQCZ.’L, {] Yi)(‘%d/
Hve.

beihboci, TX 754/

spelling.

On July 8, 1884 Dillard Goen of Palo Pinto County received a
deed from James M. Gilbert and Ann A. Gilbert of Palo Pinto
County for 300 acres of land located 18 miles southeast of Palo
Pinto. A duplicate deed dated March 12, 1892 was recorded in
Palo Pinto County Deed Book W, page 261. The deed was pre-
pared at Brazos, Texas. Consideration for the 300 acres was
$400. Dillard Goen died in 1893, and Minerva Goen died in
1898, both intestate.

Children born to Dillard Goen and Minerva Goen, according to
Palo Pinto County Deed records which contain a proof-of-heir-
ship affidavit dated July 19, 1941 include:

Mary M. Goen born about 1845

J. F. Goen born about 1846, son
Louis Erwin Goen born August 18, 1847
U. B. Goen born about 1850, son

William Dillard Goen
James G. Gowen
D. M. Goen

born December 23, 1852
born in 1854
born about 1859

Mary M. Goen, assumed to be a daughter of Dillard Goen and
Minerva Goen was born about 1845, probably in Georgia. She
was married about 1866 to E. A. McCarthy. E. A. McCarty and
Mary M. Goen McCarty gave a deed to Louis Erwin Goen, her
brother May 14, 1904, according to Palo Pinto County Deed
Book 23, page 86. She was deceased prior to 1941.

J. F. Goen, son of Dillard Goen and Minerva Goen, was born
about 1846, probably in Georgia. He was listed August 8, 1919
in an affidavit recorded in Palo Pinto County Deed Book 94,
page 503, as a son of Dillard Goen and Minerva Goen, of Palo
Pinto County. J. F. Goen gave a deed to his undivided interest
in the 150 acres inherited from his father in December 26, 1906
to his brother Louis Erwin Goen, according to Palo Pinto
County Deed Book 35, page 150.

Louis Erwin Goen, son of Dillard Goen and Minerva Goen, was
born August 18, 1847 in Georgia, probably Jackson County.
About 1877 he was married to Mary Jane Jones, daughter of
Henry Jones and Lacy Jones, both natives of North Carolina.
Mary Jane Jones was born in Georgia October 29, 1849.

Louis Erwin Goen appeared as the head of a household in 1880
census of Palo Pinto County, Enumeration District 126, page 3,
precinet S:

"Goin, lLouis E. 33, born in Georgia

Mary 30, born in Georgia
Lilly A. 2, born in Texas
Nannie  7/12, born in Texas"

On October 24, 1884 Louis Erwin Goen received a land grant
from the State of Texas for 160 acres in Palo Pinto County.
The patent was recorded in Palo Pinto County Deed Book P,
page 118.

Louis Erwin Goen appeared as the head of a household in the
1900 census of Palo Pinto County, Enumeration District 122,
page 12, precinct 4:

"Goen, Louis 53, born in Georgia, August 1847
Mary 50, born in Georgia, October 1849
Tom 17, born in Texas, February 1883
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was born in 1947 on October 19, 1968 at Mineral Wells, ac-
cording to Parker County Marriage Book 39, page 248.

Bobby Lewis Goen gave an affidavit to the public February 10,
1974, according to Parker County Deed Book 551, page 257.
Of Bobby Lewis Goen and Eldonna Louise Wright Goen and
descendents nothing more is known.

Jane Goins, daughter of Dillard Goins, was born about 1831 in
Georgia. Jane Goins was married about 1849 to John D. Tuck
who was born in Virginia about 1825. He died about 1898, and
she died shortly before 1900.

Carolyn Tuck Sanders wrote July 24, 1989:

"My great-great-grandfather, John D. Tuck married Jane
Goins about 1848, probably in Cobb County, Georgia. |
believe her parents were Dillard Goins and Nancy Goins
of South Carolina.

An Alabama correspondent sent me a copy of the Tuck
tamily photo album. One of the photos is of the Tuck
family with my Jane in it. It seems that Jane was a
Cherokee. John D. and Jane were disinherited, shunned
by all the family members, and he and his children were
marked out of the family bible. Fact or fiction ... ?"

Annie Lee Goen died February 12, 1922 in Palo Pinto County,
according to. BVS File No. 5679. This death could not be con-
firmed by Palo Pinto County death records.

Boyd Wayne Goen, who was born in 1949, was married
September 14, 1968, to Dorris Jenette Ruth who was born in
1953, on according to Parker County Marriage Book 39, page
243,

One year later, Boyd Wayne Goen and Dorris Jenette Ruth
Goen gave a warranty deed to Nona Faye Webster for property
in Hockley County, Texas, according to Hockley County Deed
Book 267, page 283.

J. L. Goen was listed June 15, 1901, as an heir of Dillard Goen
and Minerva Goen in a deed which transferred 150 acres to
Louis Erwin Goen, according to Palo Pinto County Deed Book
15, page 422,

J. P. Goen and others gave a deed to W. H. Nolen October 11,
1916, according to Palo Pinto County Deed Book 77, page 264.

Hattie Ethel Bagwell Jones Goen was born July 4, 1895 at Wiz-
ard Wells, Texas. She was the daughter of Green Bagwell who
was born in Mississippi and Elizabeth Stowen Bagwell, a na-
tive of Texas. Hattie Ethel Bagwell Jones Goen lived at 514
SW I ith Street, Mineral Wells, according to Palo Pinto County
Death Book 18, page 45. She was buried in Woodland Park
Cemetery in Mineral Wells.

Mollie [Nellie?] Goen was listed June 15, 1901, as an heir of
Dillard Goen and Minerva Goen in a deed which transferred
150 acres to Louis Erwin Goen, according to Palo Pinto County
Deed Book 15, page 422.

Ralph Goen gave a affidavit to the public in connection with a
labor lien April 16, 1934, according to Parker County Deed
Book 6, page 567. Ralph Goen was married to Lois McQueary
about 1942, according to Palo Pinto County Marriage Book 10,

page 342. Ralph Goen of Palo Pinto County gave an affidavit
to the public September 16, 1958, according to Parker County
Deed Book 303, page 113. v

Ralph Goen was married to Mrs. Antonio Lee Stout November
12, 1966, according to Palo Pinto Marriage Book 17, page 204.
He lived at 906 SE First Street, Mineral Wells, according to the
1974 taxpayers list. Descendents of Ralph Goen, Lois Mc-
Queary Goen and Antonio Lee Stout Goen are unknown.

Richard Wayne Goen, white male, was born October 26, 1969
in Parker County, according to birth records in Weatherford
city hall.

Susan Jennette Goen, white female, was born June 30, 1971 in
Parker County, according to birth records in Weatherford city
hall.

Una Eloise McQueary Goen was born in Texas March 28,
1913. She was the daughter of Andrew B. McQueary and
Bertie Gauldin McQueary, both of whom were born in Texas.
Una Eloise McQueary Goen died from shock December 15,
1956, according to Palo Pinto County Death Book C, page 2.
She was a room clerk at a hotel, according to Ralph Goen, in-
formant.

Miss Patricia Ann Goens was married to Travis W. Langley,
November 10, 1948, according to Parker County Marriage
Book 26, page 379.

Dillard Goins was born in South Carolina about 1791, accord-
ing to a descendant, Carolyn Tuck Sanders of Ennis, Texas. He
was married about 1818, wife's name, Nancy. Children born to
Dillard Goins and Nancy Goins are believed to include Jane
Goins, born about 1831 in Georgia. Jane Goins was married
about 1849 to John D. Tuck who was born in Virginia about
1825. He died about 1898, and she died shortly before 1900.

Carolyn Tuck Sanders wrote July 24, 1989:

"My great-great-grandfather, John D. Tuck married Jane
Goins about 1848, probably in Cobb County, Georgia. |
believe her parents were Dillard Goins and Nancy Goins
of South Carolina.

An Alabama correspondent sent me a copy of the Tuck
family photo album. One of the photos is of the Tuck
family with my Jane in it. It seems that Jane was a
Cherokee. John D. and Jane were disinherited, shunned
by all the family members, and he and his children were
marked out of the family bible. Fact or fiction ... ?"

GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA

H. M. Goin was married February 13, 1893 to Lizzie Owens,
according to Glynn County Marriage Book C, page 145. Of H.
M. Goin and Lizzie Owens Goin nothing more is known.

J. T. Goin was married February 10, 1891 to Addie Coleman,
according to Glynn County Marriage Book C, page 57. Chil-
dren born to J. T. Goin and Addie Coleman Goin are unknown.

R. L. Goin was married June 18, 1911 to Bessie L. Waldon, ac-
cording to Glynn County Marriage Book D, page 230. OfR. L.
Goin and Bessie Waldon Goin nothing more is known.
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Drury Going Rode with Revolutionary Marion Brigade

Drury Going, attracled by the daring cxploits of Marion's
Brigade, volunteered in 1781 to ride with Revolutionary Brig.-
Cien, Francis Marion in bis slashing attacks on the British.
Marion had taken raw f{romtiersmen, trained them to be
{carless riders and expert marksmen and formed them into an
cificient guerilla [oree that became the pride of the Colonists’
southern campaign.

the "Swamp Fox™ repeatedly led his rapid-deployment
brigade in daring raids against the superior British forees,
exacted heavy losscs upon them and then cscaped into the
swamps where the English were unable follow. They had
remarkable successes in battles at Georgetown, Ft. Watson,
Fi. Motte and Eutaw Springs. lifting the morale of the
Amcericans who were generally being defcated everywhere
zise. Their spectacular success in the %altlc of Parker's Ferry
in 1782 resulted in a Congressional medal for Marion's men.

Drury Going was born in 1749 in an arca which later became
tircensville County, Virginia. according to Mary Elizabeth
Motley Beadles, a descendant and DAR Member 474911, His
family removed to Camden District, in north central South
Carolina and settled in an arca which later became Union and
Chester Counties. He was married there in 1767 at age 18 to
{7-vear-old Sarah "Sallic” Baxter who was born about 1750 in
Granville Countv [later Orange County, later Caswell
County), North Carolina.

He was mentioned as a tandowner in a land grant to William
Long dated November 5, (771, The description of Long's
land, “200 acres on Waterce Creek in Craven District,”
mentioned that it was bounded on the cast by that of Drury
Going. The grant also mentioned that “the road to Rocky
Mount crosses the northeast corner,” suggesting that the road
also crossed the property of Drury Going,

Drury Going served as a private in a South Carolina militia
reiment commanded by Col. Winn during the Revolutionary
War. The regiment was under the overall command of Gen.
}’rancxs Marion, the "Swamp Fox." Indent No. 98, Book O was
issued January 26, 1785 to "Mr. Drury Goins, 18:6:8 3/4
Sterling for militia duty in 1781 and 1782]" according to "Stub
Entries to indents” cdited by A. S. Salley, Ir, Secretary of
the Historical Commission of South Carolina. Additionally,
the indent had earned interest in the amount of 1:16:5.

“‘Drury Goins" was a purchaser at the estate salc of Moses
Cherry in Camden District {later York County, South Car-
olinal in 1783, according to York County probate records,
Apartment 15, package 483.

On September 1, 1787 "Drury Gowing of Chester County”
reccived a deed to 319 acres’ located on the south side of
Broad River from Merry McGuire, "Planter of Union County,
South Carolina,” according to Union County Deed Book
A&B, page 469. Consideration was "100 pounds current
roney.” In the body of the decd the grantee’s name was also
spelled "Gowen” and "Going." The Jand had been received by

McGuire June 5, 1786 in a grant from Gov. William Moultric.

Drury Going received a deed Julv 8, 1788 to “land on the
watcers of Turkey Creek” for 50 pounds, according to Chester
County Deed Book B, page 69. Jjob Going, a kinsman of
Drurv (Going, was a witness to the t-ansaction.

"Drury Going, being charged with having begotten an ille-
gitimate Infant on the Body of Sarah Golden came into court
and Confessed the fact, whereupon it is considered by the
Court that they make their fine by paying the sum of five
pounds Proclamation Money, and the said Goings acknowl-
vdged himself bound to pay the said Sarah’s fine and all costs
accruing, and that he is liable for the maintenance of the said
infant.” was the cntry dated July 8 1788 in Chester County
Court Order Book A, page 358.
(Continucd on Page 2)

Continucd from October . .
Did Appalachian Melungeons
Have an Iberian Ancestry?

By Evelyn McKinley Orr
Mclungeon Rescarch Team Chairman
%310 Emmet Street, Omaha, Nebraska, 68134

Some of the early Melungecons who lived in the area where
Tennessee, Virginia and North Carolina come together
claimed to have had Portugucse ancestors, iberians were the
original race of people living in Portugal, however many peo-
plc invaded the countrv. They included Phocnicians, Cartha-
genians, Goths, Romans, Greeks and Moors, according to
"World Book Encyclopedia.” Neighboring Spain oftcn sub-
jugated parts of Portugal and took over the entire country in
1580.

Hernando De Soto was apparently the first explorer to pene-
trate the arca we now know as Tennessee. The encounter was
a disaster for both the Cherokee Indians and De Soto’s men
who found that they could not subdue the Indians into slavery.

When the Spanish expedition under Capt. Juan Pardo re-
turned to Tennessee 26 years later, his mission was to convert
the Indians to Christianity--not to enslave them. Pardo built a
fort and left a detachment to scout the territory and to search
for gold, according to an article, "Southcast Indians" by
Charles Hudson in "National Geographic Magazine,"
March 1988.

The detachment contained some Portuguese members who
deserted the cxpedition, according to "Mysiery of the
Melungcoas” by Louise Davis. Thurston L. Willis, writing in
"The Thesopiean Journal of North American Archaeol-
ogy,” Volume 9, confirms and locates the fort near present-
day Mewpart, Teanessce.

{Continued on Page 4)



Drur?r Gotng, Continued

Shortly afterward, Drury Going sold the two tracts of land
back to Robert Elliott that he had purchased from him a vear
carlier, according to Chester County Deed Book B, page 542.
Witnesscs:  Job  Going. John Hill, Isaac Going, and
consideration was again 1,000 pounds. )

Drury Going was appointed to serve as juror for the January
1793 term, according 10 an entrv dated June 25, 1792 in
Chester County Order Book B, page 179.

On Junc 13, 1794 Drury Going corraled an estray, according
to Chester County Order Book 1795-1799, page 425. The
entry read, "Drury Going Tolls a Sorrell horse about 7 vears
old, paced natural, Brand unknown, about 14 hands high, his
hind feet white, said Estray appraised to 8:0:0."

Drury Going died February 22, 1796 "in the 47th year of his
age,” according 10 a letter written March 16, 1879 by Thomas
Baxter Going, his grandson. "He died on the road coming
home from Charleston with his wagon and team. He lacked
three days drive of reaching home when he died. He was
hauled home and buried at home."

Administration of the estate of "Drewry Coings, Des'd was
granted to "Elijah Goings. Admr. and Sarah Goings, Admx.”
n July 1796, according to Chester County Court Order Book
1. The citation was made public by having it rcad in a church

assembly:

Be 1t remembered that I Joseph Brown was personally
wesent when Joseph Alexander, a minister of the Prevs-
vicrian |sic] Profession Yublickly read the within Citation
at a mecting held at Bullock’s Creek for the purpose of
Publick Warship. Dated at Chester this 25th day of July
1796. §. A. Brown"

“Sarah Goyen” appearcd as the head of a houschold in the
1810 census of Chester District, page 262. Sarah "Sallie”
Baxter (oing wrote her will November 4, 1814:

I, Sarah Going, being in a low state of helth, but sound in
mind and memory make this, my last will and testament.”

I give to my daughter Mary Going onc feather bed and
[urniturc, one cow named Harty and heifer, and I give to
my daughter Rebekab Going onc feather bed and
furniturc which my above daughters Mary and Rebekab
claim, and 1 give to my daughter Rebekah one cow named
Liby and I give to my son Thomas B. Going the tract of
land or plantation where 1, Sarah Going now live
containing One hundred and seven acres, and it is my will
and desire that my daughters Mary and Rebekah should
live with my son Thomas on the said plantation while
[they] remain unmarid, and I give to my daughter Rebekah
one woman's Saddle and pine table, one big wheel, and
give to my son Thomas Going onc walnut table and one
feather bed and furniture, on¢ cow named Whiteface and
a dun cow I give to my daughter Mary.

All the rest of my property, my will is, to be sold and pav
all my just debts except onc large trunk 1 give to my
daughter Rebekah, and after paying my just debits to be
equally divided amongst my children.

And 1 do make my son Thomas B. Going sole Executor of
my Estate as witness my hand and seal in the year of our
Lord one Thousand eight hundred and fourteen.
November 4th Day 1814, Sarah [X] Going"

Sarah "Sallie” Baxter Going died in Union County April 22,
1820, at age 6Y, according to the research of Linda Sue Betts
Essary, a descendant of Floyd, New Mexico. Her will was

probated in the Junc 1820 court scssion, according to Chester
County Deed Book H, page 9.

Children born to them include:

Martha Going born about 1768

Elijah Going born in 1770

Job Isaac Going born September §, 1772
John Going born January 10. 1774
Isaac Going born April 28, 1775
James Going born in 1777

Mary Going born in 1779

Elizabeth Going born about 1781

born about 1782
born in 1784
born April 3, 1786

Rebecca Going
Thomas Baxter Going
Sarah Baxter Going

In addition to the child of Sarah Golden, Linda Suc Betts
Essary discovered another possible child of Drury Going in
"South Carolina Magazine of Ancestral Research,”
Volume 10. The item read, "Marion District, SC, Minutes
Book of the Ordinary, 1806, Oct. 25, "Letters of Guardianship
granted to Ann Adams, guardian for Selander Strother, a
minor aged about 14 years, late of Peedec, supposed daughter
of Drura Gowings.™ ‘
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James Goyae, Continued

He left in 1799 and then moved to St. Elena {lelena] Parish,
Louisiana for about five years [left in 1804]; then to Lawrence
County, Mississippi for about two years [left in 1806]; then to
Copiah County, Mississippi where he resided until December
1834; then moved to Kemper County, Mississippi.

Following James' guidance, one can find him in the records of
Georgia. In 1791 and 1792 he was listed in Capt. Simmon's
District of Wilkes County. He was listed in the inventory of the
estate of William Minor, Jr. [undated, but between 1794 and
1804] in Hancock County. The 1802 tax returns of Hancock
County list James and John Goyn in Capt. Williams' District.!”

James can be found in the land records of Louisiana. He re-
ceived land "by settlement” in the Florida Parishes {St. Helena
Parish] of Louisiana in 1810.' James Goyne signed his pension
application in an unsteady, yet clear, hand.

Two of James Goyne's sons have been identified, as well as
many of his progeny. James' son John Goyne [born 1776] mar-
ried Matilda Hall, daughter of Henry W. Hall, in 1800 in
Washington County, Georgia. John and Matilda lived for a time
~ in Tennessee, then moved to the Florida Parishes of Louisiana,
where Matilda's father had already settled in St. Helena Parish in
1803." For an unknown reason, John and many of his
descendants adopted the surname Guynes. Persons of this
surname are numerous in the records of Louisiana and Missis-

sippi.

James' son, Wiley Williamson Goyne [born 1799], lived in
Louisiana and Mississippi where he was married to Martha
Brister. They later lived in Live Oak County, Texas where they
died. This line adopted an "S" at the end of the name. The
23-year difference in the ages of John and Wiley Williamson
Goyne, leaves room for James to have had several additional
children. They have not yet been identified.

Another document of help in researching the family of James
Goyne is a newspaper clipping of an interview conducted in
1905 with Susan Goynes Dickerson of Live Oak County, Texas.
Susan Dickerson was the daughter of Wiley Williamson Goyne,
and the granddaughter of James Goyne. In her interview,
80-year old"Susan Goynes Dickerson stated that she knew her
¢randfather, James Goyne, and that he and his four brothers had
'served in the Revolutionary War.20

Current Research With our attention thus directed to Fairfield
County, South Carolina, we made a research trip to that area in
June 1995,  OQur research was conducted in the South
Caroliniana Library of the University of South Carolina; the
North Carolina and South Carolina Archives; the county
courthouses and county libraries of Chester and Fairfield
Counties, South Carolina, and of Rutherford County, North
Carolina. A very pleasant surprise wag the Gencalogy Room at
the Fairfield County MusSum 1n Winnsboro; South Carolina.
From this research trip we can conclude that a group of Goynes
did in fact reside in the area of Chester airfield Counties,
and just across the state line in Rutherford County, North .
Carolina during the Revolutionary War. Sowme of the names in
this group are: Alexander, Amos, Daniel, Drury, HW’

and WM -

Some of these same names are included in a 1773 petition by
residents of the northern part of Orange County, North Carolina
to Governor Martin of North Carolina. This petition asked for a
partition of Orange County. Among the persons signing this
petition were: Alexr Gowin, John Gowen, Danel Gowen, Emas
[Amos) Gowen, and Alexr Gowen Senr.?!

A study of these names, before and atter their arrival along the
Broad River of South Carolina and North Carolina, may cast
some light on this family.

Alexander Goyne The name Alexander is pervasive in the
Goyne family, both as a given name and as a middle name.
However, we must discount its use among the descendants of
Hiram Davis and Tyra A. Goyne.

(Continued on Page 4)
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Part 2:

My purpose in writing this paper is to fit as many members of

the family as possible into their proper niches. Then. those left
after this ctfort should be easier to place. Migration patterns
may tell us something about which branch a person belongs to.
Given names may also provide a clue.

they may have been corresponding with each other, as they con-
verged on a particular area and lived as neighbors. An example
is Kemper County, Mississippi, where persons descending from
several [?] different older generations lived.,  Also, there is more
to be learned about the Goynes who stated that they were born
in Tennessee. In this regard, we must remember that Tennessee
was formed from North Carolina in 1796. At least one Goyne
{Benjamin of lefferson County, Alabama] stated that he was
born in North Carolina, but was actually born in an area that be-
came Tennessee--according to his son.

This paper is being written at the conclusion of a June 1995 re-
search trip, Our research on this trip was conducted in Missis-
sippi, Alabama. South Carolina and North Carolina. In recent
vears we have rescarched several counties in Georgia and in the
Georgia Archives.  We have previously researched in north
Louisiana and south Arkansas. Over the years | have corre-
sponded with several Goyne researchers around the United
States, and overscus.  Thus, since our collection of Goyne data
may have reached a plateau, for a while at least, it is my inten-
tion at this time to present a summary of information on what |
consider "my" branch of the Goynes.

A Starting Point [ have long felt that William Goyne,
[Newsletter, May 1990] who made his will in 1816 in Warren
County, Georgia. and James Goyne, who was born in 1755 in
Lunenburg County, Virginia, were brothers. As a starting point,
I have evaluated the Pension Application for Revolutionary War
Service of James Goyne, made on 18 May 1836, in Kemper
County, Mississippi. 5 In his application, James Goyne
{Newsletter, October 1990] stated that he was born in 1755 in
“Mulenburg" County, Virginia. [This is the spelling used by the
court clerk.] This spelling is suggestive of either Mecklenburg
or Lunenburg County. Since Mecklenburg was formed from
Lunenburg County in 1765, it would appear that James was born
in the part of Lunenburg that became Mecklenburg County. In
17438 this area of Lunenburg County was the tax district of Capt.
Lewis Delony, In 1749 it was the tax district of Capt. William
Howard. In 1751 and 1752 it was the tax district of Capt. Field

The migration patterns of
some individuals--seemingly not closely related-~-indicates that *

Jefferson. From these tax lists it appears the senior (o-
ing/(‘min/(}owin in this district was named John. Other names
appearing on these tax lists beginning in 1751 were William;
and in 1752 J 16

his Revolutionary War Pension Application, James Goyne
stated that he served in the militia of Camden District, South
Carolina. James stated that his militia unit rendezvoused at
Winnsboro, near which place he resided. He stated that he
served under Col. John Winn. This proves that James lived in
Fairfield County, South Carolina.

k‘_ . . B .
James Goyne told where he Tived prior to his arrival in Kemper

County, Mississippi. He left Camden District. South Carolina

about 1784, and went to live in Burke County, Georgia where he

lived for about five years [left in 1789}; then to Warren County,

Georgia where he lived for about two years [left in 1791]; then

to Washméton County, Georgia for about five ycars [left in

1796]; then to Hancock County, Georgia for about three years.
{Continued on Page 3)

James M. Gowen Was a Pioneer
In the Republic of Texas in 1839

James M. Gowen, son of Maj. John "Buck" Gowen and Leltice
"Letty Winn Bearden Gowen, was born in 1763 in North Car-
olina, probably Granville County. He is regarded as a namesake
of his uncle Lt. James Gowen, Revolutionary soldier of Comba-
hee Ferry, South Carolina. He appeared as the head of a house-
hold in the 1786 state census of Greenville County, South Car-
olina. His name did not reappear in the [800 census of
Greenville County.

"Majer Gowen" was mentioned in a deed dated August 23, 1797
in which John Barnes of Greenville County conveyed "30 acres
adjacent Mager Gowens Corner" to John Swaffer for £30 ster-
ling. Two decades later Mary Barnes, suggested as the widow of
John Barnes by Cecille Gaziano, researcher of Minneapolis,
deeded March 28, 1819 100 acres "on a branch of the middle
fork of the Saluda River whereon Mary Barnes and Henry Deen
now live" to Thomas Payne, according to Greenville County
Deed Book D, pages 534-535 and Deed Book L, page 79.

Witnesses to the deed were "John Gowen and James Gowen."
The deed was proved February 7, 1820 "by the oath of John
Gowen, Junr. that he saw Molly Barnes sign the deed.” The sig-
natories are identified as James M. Gowen and John B. Gowen,
sons of Maj. John "Buck” Gowen. Cecille Gaziano raises the
possibility that Mary Barnes was a Gowen relative.

(Continued on Page 2)
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WILL OF
GOIN
SOUTHCAROLINA FAIRPIELD DISTRICT February wm».w 1807

1o the nuue of God, AXORe

1 Honry Going of District end State above Eaua»ounn. being
~yory sick snd weak { or inm perfect hoalh of ) body but { or
and -} of perfeet mind and momory, thanks be $0 gode galling

" unto mAAd the Mortality of my Body, & Knowing that it is

' appointod for all men Onse to dis, do mke and ordain this
B« last Will and Testamenty That is to say principally and
pirst of all, I Give and Recommond my Soul, into the hand of
simighty God that Gave It and my Body I Recoumend to the

" garth, to be buried in Decent Christion Burial &t the Dis=

" gretion of ny Executors, lothing Doubting, but , at the 0&50
eval Resurrection, I shall Receive the Same agein, by the

. mighty power of God, and as touching Such viowkldly ectate
wharewith it hath pleased God to blefs me in this life, I
“6ive Dovise and Dicpose of the Same in the following manner
gl FOllk s e v e nee- moemsseenrman s~
au.a% 1 Give ta my four Beloved Children, ! n&bw«- Heoskiah,
g»n- lsading and Dillard mHH ny land %o be mmbbpe. Bivided
apong them,= | |
uoounnp« I Do bequoth $o Hoesckiah Iy meqqea siony Iy Sorrel
g- usud Called Rachel I do likewisc begueath unte him A
atlk cos® S81f uUsually Called Blagkhead= = = = = .

gﬁ.ﬁw 1 do Give or Bequsath %o lewis Colng my Com 4 correl
Golte EﬁE Called Isaih I Do likewiss Dequeath to him 4
Gow and Calf usually Called Damsel~ - =

Fourthly I De Bequeath or Give unto Déllard Going iy Beloved
Som, & torrol Colt and I Do likowise 5B Give or bogueath te
bim &4 Cow and Calf usually Celled hart

yifthly I do Bsqueath or Give to my Daughter landice= Golng
4 Boy lare, usually Called Rome= & I Do likewice Givwo hor A
cow and Calf, usually Called Doty=e--

Thare i to be four head of Cattle end my Grey iure EE& all
zy Debts to g_u&an off aml all Xy ether prunerty to GMMVM\%EI
ol Among my Four Children= FExcept 4 vheel and Card WhCeAI |
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bequeath to Lacdice, In Witnefs tbarof I bave hereunto

got my band and Seal= this Date above moNtloncdee—e

his
Exgoutors Henry X Going
. mark
John Hall
Daniel Going

Proved (sdninisteation by
‘John Hall) |
‘Recorded 28th July 1807
In ¥ill Book #6
rage 173
apt #16 TFile ¢ 178
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Glazier, John Ogelvia, Robert & Malachi 1817 Y 351 Release
Gleghorn, Matthew McCann, Robert & others 1836 | MM 228 Release
Glenn, Hargrave A. Hawthorne, John 1835 LL 448 Release
Glenn, John McMorris, William 1803 0 283 Release
Gloer, John Porcher, Thomas W. 1839 NN 207 Release ﬁ
Goats, George Nerts, Jacob 1818 z 289 Release
Godbold, Garaway Buchanan, Joha Jr. 1823 DD 327 Com. E. Title
Godbolt, Jesse Muse, Thomas 1800 M 171 Release |
Godfrey, George Davis, James 1815 X 141 Release
Godfrey, Thomas Anderson, Nathaniel 1813 w 87 Release
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Goins, Daniel Jr. Goins, Daniel Sr. 1826 GG 232 Release
Goins, Daniel Jr. Aiken, David 1827 HH1 117 Release
Goins, Daniel Jr. Goins, Robert 1827 HH1 120 Release i
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Goins, Edward Sr. Forbiss, Collin 1796 K 373 Convey
Goins, Hugh Pickett, John 1822 DD 173 Quit Claim l
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i Goins, Hugh Shif. Title

t Goins, Hugh Goins, Daniel Sr. ‘ 1825 FF 144 Release
Goins, Jane & Daniel Goins, Daniel Sr. 1836 MM 194 Release

n Goins, Nancy & others Goins, Daniel Sr. 1825 FF 140 Release
Goins, Robert Goins, Daniel Sr. 1827 HHI1 205 Release
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Goodfried, Hannah, Sarah & | Mobley, Eleazor & Ann (his 1788 B 72 Convey
George wife)
Goodfried, Sarah, George & | Mobley, Eleazor & Ann (his 1788 B 72 Convey
Hannah wife)

I Goodrum, Allen Hellems, Mabry 1805 P 124 Release
Goodrum, Allen Tidwell, John Jr. 1805 P 127 Release
Goodrum, John Lewis, Serls & wife 1796 K 269 Convey
Goodrum, Nathaniel Shelby, Margaret & others 1833 KK 405 Release

" Goodrum, Thomas Helms, Mabry 1801 N 329 Release
Goodwyn, Lucy Ann Jones, Darling 1827 HHI 380 Release
Gooey, Joshuay Lawd, William 1824 EE 251 Release

!Gordon, Alex Muzych, Mary 1813 \' 195 Release
Gordon, Alex Muzych, Mary 1813 v 197 Lease
Gordon, Valentine Kersey, Valentine 1826 HHI 26 Release
Gordon, Valentine Kersey, Garland & wife 1828 | HHI1 494 Release

! Gordon, Valentine Kersey, Nancy 1829 Il 221 Quit Claim

Gordon, William Hamilton, John 1831 KK 96 Release
Gore, Thomas M. Milling, David 1836 MM 170 Release
Goree, James Williamson, Thomas 1814 W 239 Release
Goree, James Craig, Quentin 1817 Y 383 Release
Goree, John Hopkins, Ferdinand 1811 U 91 Release
Goree, Thomas Rabb, Robert 1813 w 13 Release g

l Gosa, Aaron Wright, Boling 1794 1 243 Convey u
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Glazier, John Adger, William \'Z 69
| Gleghom, Matthew Robinson, Joseph 1836 | MM | 245 Release
Glen, John & Comelia his wife | Aiken, David 1314 w 261 Release
Glenn, James Stewart. Hugh Brown 1836 | MM | 65 Release
Goats, George Ashley, William 1818 | z | 3m Release
Goats, George & others Murphy, Samuel 1818 | z | 303 Release
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Godbolt, Cassaway Dawkins, Simeon 1836 | MM | 148 Release
Godbolt, Gassaway Jones, Abraham 1827 | HE1 | 424 Release
il Godbolt, Nathan Summers, Altha 1834 | LL | 193 | Release
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Godfrey, George Daye, Matthew 1802 | N | 505 | QuitClaim
Godfrey, George Anderson, Nathaniel 1803 | O 2 Release
Godfrey, George Hanna, Samuet 1816 | Y 70 Release
| Godtrey, George & Thomas | Hanna, Samuel 1816 | Y | 68 Release
Godfrey, John & wife Reece, Peter 1789 | ¢ | 61 | Conveyance
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| Goins, Daniel Moore, Michael 1829 | 0 | 344 Release
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Goins, Daniel

Goins, Daniel Sr. Goins, Nancy & others 1825 FF 140 Release
Goins, Daniel Sr. Goins, Daniel Jr. 1825 | FF | 142 Release
Goins, Daniel Sr. Goins, Hugh 1825 | FF 144 Release
Goins, Daniel Sr. Gibson, Jervis 1825 | FF 146 Release
Goins, Daniel Sr. Harrison, Benjamin 1825 FF 224 Release
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H Goins, Daniel Sr. Goins, Robert 1827 HH1 205 Release
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| Goins, Robert Goins, Daniel Jr. 1827 HHI 120 Release
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Goodrum, John Langley, William 796 | kK | 211 Convey
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Goodrum, John & Gibson, Jervis 1797 K 431 Convey
Hellams, Joseph
Goodrum, Thomas Pickett, James 1805 P 131 Release
Gordon, Alex & wife Wagers, William 1800 N 127 Release
{| Gordon, Atexander Wilson, Theophlis - 1799 | M | 80 Release
{l Gordon, Alexander Cameron, John 1806 | Q | 172 | Release
Blair, James - 1813 | v | 205 Release
Milling, Hugh 178 | A 242 | Lease & Release
Miller, Alexander 1788 B 40 Convey
Ashford, Jemima 1817 | Y 390 Release
Aiken, David 1839 | NN | 101 Release
Lyons, JYames 1824 EE 316 Release
Free, Simon 1801 N 301 Release




